Conservation laws and symmetries of difference equations

1

Olexandr G. Rasin, MSc Hons.

Submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at The University of Surrey

> Supervisor: Prof. P.E. Hydon Co-supervisor: Prof. I. Roulstone



Department of Mathematics School of Electronics and Physical Sciences University of Surrey Guildford, GU2 7XH United Kingdom

©O.G. Rasin 2007

0.1 Abstract

This thesis deals with conservation laws and symmetries of difference equations.

The main new results in the field of conservation laws are:

- We have improved the effectiveness of Hydon's direct method for constructing conservation laws;
- A classification of all three-point conservation laws for a large class of integrable difference equations that has been described by Nijhoff, Quispel and Capel is presented. We show that every nonlinear equation from this class has at least two nontrivial conservation laws.
- We deal with conservation laws for all integrable difference equations that belong to the famous Adler-Bobenko-Suris classification. All inequivalent three-point conservation laws are found, as are three five-point conservation laws for each equation.
- We describe a method of generating conservation laws from known ones; this method can be used to generate higher-order conservation laws from those that are listed here.
- An example of conservation laws for a Toda type system is presented. The connection between these conservation laws and symmetries is shown.
- Conservation laws for nonautonomous quad-graph equations are found.
- We include a Maple program for deriving three-point conservation laws for quadgraph equations.

The main new results in the field of symmetries are:

• Symmetries of all integrable difference equations that belong to the Adler-Bobenko-Suris classification are described. For each equation, the characteristics of symmetries satisfy a functional equation, which we solve by reducing it to a system of partial differential equations. In this way, all five-point symmetries of integrable equations on the quad-graph are found. These include mastersymmetries, which allow one to construct infinite hierarchies of local symmetries.

- We demonstrate a connection between the symmetries of quad-graph equations and those of the corresponding Toda type difference equations.
- A program for deriving five-point symmetries for quad-graph equations is presented.

0.2 Acknowledgements

I would like to thank first my supervisor Peter E. Hydon for his support, understanding and encouragement. His incisive thinking and good explanation helped me to understand and to conduct my research.

I am very grateful to my parents, grandparents and my brother whose love I felt even when I have been very far away from them.

I am also grateful to my housemates: Mikhail Shevchenko, Daniele Avitabile, Frederic Gardes, Alison Rudd and very special thanks to Anastasiya Kot who helped me to write an article.

Very special thanks to John Rayman and Alan Terry who helped with my English and who also have a wonderful sense of humour.

Last but not least, I should mention the staff of the Department of Mathematics at the University of Surrey, who helped me with advice and useful discussions.

On the financial side, I would like to thank Universities UK for an ORS award as well as the Department of Mathematics at the University of Surrey.

Contents

	0.1	Abstract	2
	0.2	Acknowledgements	4
1	Int	roduction	7
	1.1	Equations on the quad-graph	7
		1.1.1 Classification of integrable equations on quad-graphs. Consistency	
		approach	8
	1.2	Conservation laws	13
		1.2.1 Useful results	15
	1.3	Symmetries	16
	1.4	Overview of the thesis	17
2	Cor	nservation laws	18
	2.1	The Method	18
		2.1.1 Example of conservation laws of the discrete KdV equation	21
	2.2	Conservation laws for NQC-type equations	23
		2.2.1 Simplification of the NQC equation	24
		2.2.2 Three-point conservation laws of the simplified equations	30
		2.2.3 Constructing the conservation laws of the NQC equation	32
	2.3	Three-point conservation laws for ABS equations	33
	2.4	Five-point conservation laws for ABS equations	38
3	Syn	ametries	45
	3.1	Symmetries of quad-graph equations	45

CONTENTS

	3.2	The method	46
	3.3	Five-point symmetries of integrable equations on the quad-graph	49
	3.4	Mastersymmetries	55
4	Тос	la type equations	57
	4.1	Symmetries of Toda type equations	57
	4.2	Conservation laws of Toda type equations	59
5	Арј	plication of conservation laws and symmetries	62
	5.1	High-order conservation laws	62
	5.2	Conservation laws for generalized dKdV and dpmKdV equations	63
		5.2.1 The generalized nonautonomous dKdV equation \ldots \ldots \ldots	63
		5.2.2 The generalized nonautonomous dpmKdV equation	65
	5.3	Similarity solutions	68
6	Cor	nclusion	70
	6.1	Conservation laws	70
	6.2	Symmetries	71
A	Maj	ple programs	74
	A.1	Program for deriving three-point conservation laws for quad-graph equations.	74
	A.2	Program for deriving five-point symmetries for quad-graph equations	79

6

Chapter 1

Introduction

This chapter describes a brief history of the topic and gives a motivation of the thesis. The two main topics of study in the thesis are: conservation laws of partial difference equations ($P\Delta E$'s) and symmetries of partial difference equations.

1.1 Equations on the quad-graph

Partial difference equations on the quad-graph have recently attracted much interest, especially from the integrable systems community. The first quad-graphs were derived in the works of Hirota [30, 31]. Since then, Lax pairs have been derived for these and many other quad-graph equations [14, 15, 47, 49].



Figure 1.1: Quad-graph

Quad-graphs have a scalar dependent variable u that is defined on the domain \mathbb{Z}^2 ; we

shall use the coordinates (k, l) as the independent variables. For brevity we denote the values of u at the vertices of the quad-graph by $u_{0,0} = u(k, l)$, $u_{1,0} = u(k+1, l)$, $u_{0,1} = u(k, l+1)$, $u_{1,1} = u(k+1, l+1)$, as shown. More generally $u_{i,j}$ denotes u(k+i, l+j).

At present, there are various criteria for $P\Delta Es$ to be integrable [5, 14, 27, 47, 59, 61, 69]. Attention has largely focused on quad-graphs (Fig. 1.1). The easiest definition of integrability for quad-graphs is consistency on a cube. This implies the existence of a Lax pair [14], so that the system is integrable via a spectral problem. Adler, Bobenko & Suris(ABS) have classified all integrable, scalar equations on the quad-graph that are consistent on a cube, linear in each variable, invariant under the symmetries of a square, and possess the tetrahedron property [5]. Hietarinta discovered a quad-graph that lacks the tetrahedron property but has a Lax pair [28]. However, this has recently been shown to be linearizable [63], so it can be integrated without recourse to the spectral problem. It is not yet known whether all quad-graphs that have a Lax pair but lack the tetrahedron property can be linearized.

Classification does not tell us whether a given quad-graph (that does not satisfy the assumptions of any known classification) is integrable. Various tests have been developed which indicate (but do not prove) integrability; the most notable of these is the method of singularity confinement [27]. Another possibility is to seek symmetries or conservation laws. In particular, one definition of integrability is the possession of infinitely many higher symmetries or conservation laws [22, 45].

1.1.1 Classification of integrable equations on quad-graphs. Consistency approach.

The complete classification of integrable equations on the quad-graphs (Figure 1.1) was done by Adler *et al.* in [5]. Here we briefly show the method of classification and its result.

The general form of a scalar difference equation on the quad-graph is

$$P(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}; \alpha, \beta) = 0.$$
(1.1)

In [5] the authors classified equations which satisfy the following conditions.

1) Linearity. The function $P(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}; \alpha, \beta)$ is linear in each argument (affine linear):

$$P(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}; \alpha, \beta) = a_1 u_{0,0} u_{1,0} u_{0,1} u_{1,1} + \dots + a_{16}, \qquad (1.2)$$

where coefficients a_i depend on α, β .

2) Symmetry. For quad-graphs there are no distinguished coordinate directions with the understanding that indices are used locally (within one quadrilateral), and do not stand for shifts into the globally defined coordinate directions. So, $u_{0,0}$, $u_{1,0}$, $u_{1,1}$, $u_{0,1}$ can be any cyclic enumeration of the vertices of an elementary quadrilateral. Equation (1.1) should not depend on the enumeration of vertices, therefore the following assumption is natural when considering equations on general quad-graphs. The equation (1.1) is invariant under the group D_4 of the square symmetries, namely, the function P satisfies the symmetry properties

$$P(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}; \alpha, \beta) = \epsilon P(u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,0}, u_{1,1}; \beta, \alpha)$$

= $\sigma P(u_{1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,1}, u_{0,1}; \alpha, \beta)$ (1.3)

with $\epsilon, \sigma = \pm 1$ (see Figure 1.2). Of course, due to the symmetries (1.3) not all coefficients a_i in (1.2) are independent.

Integrability can be detected in an algorithmic manner starting with no more information than the equation itself: a sufficient condition for integrability of an equation is its **three-dimensional consistency**. This property means that the equation (1.1) may



Figure 1.2: D_4 symmetry

be consistently embedded in a three-dimensional lattice, so that similar equations hold for all six faces of any elementary cube, as on Figure 1.3 (it is supposed that the values of the parameters α_j assigned to the opposite edges of any face are equal to one another, so that, for instance, all edges (x_2, x_{12}) , (x_3, x_{31}) , and (x_{23}, x_{123}) carry the label α_1):



Figure 1.3: Three-dimensional consistency

To describe more precisely what is meant by three-dimensional consistency, consider the Cauchy problem with the initial data x, x_1, x_2, x_3 . The equations

$$P(x, x_i, x_j, x_{ij}; \alpha_i, \alpha_j) = 0 \tag{1.4}$$

allow one to determine uniquely the values x_{12}, x_{23}, x_{31} . After that one has three different equations for x_{123} , coming from the faces $(x_1, x_{12}, x_{31}, x_{123})$, $(x_2, x_{23}, x_{12}, x_{123})$, and $(x_3, x_{31}, x_{23}, x_{123})$. Consistency means that all three values thus obtained for x_{123} coincide.

3) Tetrahedron property. The function $x_{123} = z(x, x_1, x_2, x_3; \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$, existing due to the three-dimensional consistency, actually does not depend on the variable x, that is, $z_x = 0$.

Under the tetrahedron condition we can paint the vertices of the cube in black and white, as on Figure 1.3, and the vertices of each of the two tetrahedra satisfy an equation of the form

$$\widehat{P}(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_{123}; \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3) = 0;$$
(1.5)

it is easy to see that under the assumption 1) (linearity) the function \widehat{P} may also be taken as linear in each argument.

The tetrahedron condition is closely related to another property of (1.1), namely to the existence of a *three-leg form* of this equation [14]:

$$\psi(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}; \alpha) - \psi(u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}; \beta) = \phi(u_{0,0}, u_{1,1}; \alpha, \beta).$$
(1.6)

The three terms in this equation correspond to three legs: two short ones, $(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0})$ and $(u_{0,0}, u_{0,1})$, and a long one, $(u_{0,0}, u_{1,1})$. The short legs are edges of the original quadgraph, while the long one is not. In some cases it is more convenient to write the three-leg equation (1.1) in the multiplicative form

$$\frac{\Psi(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}; \alpha)}{\Psi(u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}; \beta)} = \Phi(u_{0,0}, u_{1,1}; \alpha, \beta).$$
(1.7)

The three-leg form gives an explanation for the equation for the black tetrahedron from Fig. 1.3. Consider the three faces adjacent to the vertex x_{123} on this figure, namely the quadrilaterals $(x_1, x_{12}, x_{31}, x_{123})$, $(x_2, x_{23}, x_{12}, x_{123})$, and $(x_3, x_{31}, x_{23}, x_{123})$. A summation of three-leg forms (centered at x_{123}) of equations corresponding to these three faces leads to the equation

$$\phi(x_{123}, x_1; \alpha_2, \alpha_3) + \phi(x_{123}, x_2; \alpha_3, \alpha_1) + \phi(x_{123}, x_3; \alpha_1, \alpha_2) = 0.$$
(1.8)

This equation, in any event, relates the fields in the black vertices of the cube only, i.e. has the form of (1.5).

So the tetrahedron property is a necessary condition for the existence of a threeleg form. On the other hand, a verification of the tetrahedron property is much more straightforward than finding the three-leg form, since the latter contains two a priori unknown functions ψ , ϕ .

It remains to mention that, as demonstrated in [14], the existence of the three-leg form allows one to immediately establish a relation to discrete systems of the Toda type [4]. Indeed, if x is a common vertex of n adjacent quadrilaterals with faces

$$(x, x_k, x_{k,k+1}, x_{k+1}), \quad k = 1, 2, ..., n,$$

with the parameters k assigned to the edges (x, x_k) , then the fields at the point x and at the black vertices of the adjacent faces satisfy the following equation:

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \phi(x, x_{k,k+1}, \alpha_k, \alpha_{k+1}) = 0.$$
(1.9)

This is a discrete Toda type equation.

Theorem 1.1. (Adler, Bobenko and Suris [5, 15]) Up to common Möbius transformations of the variables $u_{0,0}$ and point transformations of the parameters α , the threedimensionally consistent quad-graph equations (1.4) with the properties 1),2),3) (linearity, symmetry, tetrahedron property) are exhausted by the following three lists Q, H, A $(u_{1,0} = x_1, u_{0,1} = x_2, u_{1,1} = x_{12}, \alpha = \alpha_1, \beta = \alpha_2)$.

Q1:
$$\alpha(u_{0,0}-u_{0,1})(u_{1,0}-u_{1,1})-\beta(u_{0,0}-u_{1,0})(u_{0,1}-u_{1,1})+\delta^2\alpha\beta(\alpha-\beta)=0,$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Q2}: \quad \alpha(u_{0,0}-u_{0,1})(u_{1,0}-u_{1,1}) &-\beta(u_{0,0}-u_{1,0})(u_{0,1}-u_{1,1}) \\ &+\alpha\beta(\alpha-\beta)(u_{0,0}+u_{1,0}+u_{0,1}+u_{1,1}) - \alpha\beta(\alpha-\beta)(\alpha^2-\alpha\beta+\beta^2) = 0, \end{aligned}$$

Q3:
$$(\beta^2 - \alpha^2)(u_{0,0}u_{1,1} + u_{1,0}u_{0,1}) + \beta(\alpha^2 - 1)(u_{0,0}u_{1,0} + u_{0,1}u_{1,1})$$

- $\alpha(\beta^2 - 1)(u_{0,0}u_{0,1} + u_{1,0}u_{1,1}) - \delta^2(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)(\alpha^2 - 1)(\beta^2 - 1)/(4\alpha\beta) = 0$

- $\mathbf{Q4}: \quad \operatorname{sn}(\alpha)(u_{0,0}u_{1,0}+u_{0,1}u_{1,1})-\operatorname{sn}(\beta)(u_{0,0}u_{0,1}+u_{1,0}u_{1,1})-\operatorname{sn}(\alpha-\beta)(u_{0,0}u_{1,1}+u_{1,0}u_{0,1}) \\ +\operatorname{sn}(\alpha-\beta)\operatorname{sn}(\alpha)\operatorname{sn}(\beta)(1+K^2u_{0,0}u_{1,0}u_{0,1}u_{1,1})=0,$
- **H1**: $(u_{0,0} u_{1,1})(u_{1,0} u_{0,1}) + \beta \alpha = 0,$
- **H2**: $(u_{0,0} u_{1,1})(u_{1,0} u_{0,1}) + (\beta \alpha)(u_{0,0} + u_{1,0} + u_{0,1} + u_{1,1}) + \beta^2 \alpha^2 = 0,$
- **H3**: $\alpha(u_{0,0}u_{1,0} + u_{0,1}u_{1,1}) \beta(u_{0,0}u_{0,1} + u_{1,0}u_{1,1}) + \delta^2(\alpha^2 \beta^2) = 0,$
- A1: $\alpha(u_{0,0}+u_{0,1})(u_{1,0}+u_{1,1}) \beta(u_{0,0}+u_{1,0})(u_{0,1}+u_{1,1}) \delta^2 \alpha \beta(\alpha-\beta) = 0,$
- A2: $(\beta^2 \alpha^2)(u_{0,0}u_{1,0}u_{0,1}u_{1,1} + 1) + \beta(\alpha^2 1)(u_{0,0}u_{0,1} + u_{1,0}u_{1,1})$ - $\alpha(\beta^2 - 1)(u_{0,0}u_{1,0} + u_{0,1}u_{1,1}) = 0.$

Here α, β are constants and $\operatorname{sn}(\alpha) = \operatorname{sn}(\alpha; K)$ is a Jacobi elliptic function with modulus K. The ABS equations depend on two arbitrary functions $\alpha = \alpha(k)$ and $\beta = \beta(l)$. Without loss of generality, the parameter δ is restricted to the values 0 and 1. For convenience, we have used the form of Q4 that was discovered by Hietarinta [29].

The oldest equations in this list are H1 and $H3_{\delta=0}$, which can be found in the work of Hirota [31] (of course not on general quad-graphs but only on the standard square lattice with the labels α constant in each of the two lattice directions). Equations Q1 and $Q3_{\delta=0}$ go back to [61], see also a review in [47]. Equation Q4 was found in [3] in the Weierstrass normalization of an elliptic curve; in [15] was shown that the formulas become much nicer in the Jacobi normalization. The discovery of this equation is a very important achievement, because other equations from the list can be obtained from Q4 by appropriate limits of the parameters.

In our research we deal with two wide classes of integrable quad-graphs. The first class is the ABS equations which are listed above. The second class was introduced by Nijhoff, Quispel and Capel [51]:

$$\frac{(p+s)u_{1,0} - (p-r)u_{0,0} - 1}{(q+s)u_{0,1} - (q-r)u_{0,0} - 1} = \frac{(q+r)u_{1,1} - (q-s)u_{1,0} - 1}{(p+r)u_{1,1} - (p-s)u_{0,1} - 1},$$
(1.10)

where r, s are free constant parameters. The parameters p and q can be interpreted as the corresponding constant lattice parameters.

When $s^2 \neq r^2$, $(p+r)(p-s)(q+r)(q-s) \neq 0$ equation (1.10) can be transformed to $\mathbf{Q3}_{\delta=0}$ by the following map

$$u(k,l) \mapsto \left(\alpha \frac{p-s}{p+r}\right)^k \left(\beta \frac{q-s}{q+r}\right)^l u(k,l) + \frac{1}{r+s}, \quad p \mapsto \sqrt{\frac{s^2 \alpha^2 - r^2}{\alpha^2 - 1}}, \quad q \mapsto \sqrt{\frac{s^2 \beta^2 - r^2}{\beta^2 - 1}}.$$

1.2 Conservation laws

Conservation laws are ubiquitous in applied mathematics. In some cases, they express conservation of physical quantities. Even when they do not, they are usually of mathematical interest. Much attention has been given to integrable systems that have infinite hierarchies of conservation laws, which are related to generalized symmetries by Noether's theorem. Conservation laws of integrable and nonintegrable systems can be used in many ways, such as to prove existence and uniqueness theorems, to derive shock conditions, and to check that numerical methods are not producing spurious results (at least qualitatively). If a differential equation is to be approximated using a finite difference method, it seems desirable that the discretized equation should retain as much of the original structure as possible, including discrete analogues of the conservation laws. Thus it would be

useful to have a systematic method for constructing conservation laws of a given difference equation that does not require the equation to be integrable.

Noether's theorem provides the best-known method of constructing conservation laws of any partial differential equation (PDE) that is the Euler-Lagrange equation for a variational problem [54]. This method uses variational symmetries, which form a subset of the set of generalized (or Lie-Bäcklund) symmetries of the PDE. Generalized symmetries of a particular order can be found systematically from the symmetry condition, which amounts to an overdetermined system of PDEs (see [12, 57] for a modern introduction). Noether's theorem has been extended to Hamiltonian PDEs [57] and to multisymplectic PDEs [16, 35]. However, Noether's theorem does not apply to all PDEs, but only to those that have at least one of the special structures listed above. Alternatively, conservation laws of all types of PDEs may be found by a direct method which does not use symmetries [8, 10, 57].

The theory of conservation laws for partial difference equations mirrors that for PDEs. The first conservation laws for the fully discrete sine-Gordon equation were presented by Orphanidis in [58]. Hydon and Mansfield [36] have formulated the basic theory for the realization of conservation laws in a discrete space. Just as for PDEs, the discrete analogue of Noether's Theorem [21, 37, 42, 75] is applicable only to equations with a known variational, Hamiltonian or multisymplectic structure [16]. Until recently, this condition greatly restricted the class of $P\Delta Es$ for which conservation laws could be found. This is partly because symmetry analysis of difference equations was not introduced until Maeda's 1987 paper [43], and it has since been developed along several different lines [32, 41, 62]. Furthermore, symmetry calculations are typically lengthy, and only a few of the symmetries that have been found so far are variational symmetries.

Generally speaking, it is much harder to calculate conservation laws for difference equations than for differential equations, because one has to solve a complicated functional equation rather than a system of overdetermined partial differential equations. The first systematic technique for obtaining all conservation laws of a given type was introduced by Hydon [34], who found all three-point conservation laws of the discrete potential modified

Korteweg-de Vries (dpmKdV) equation.

1.2.1 Useful results

A conservation law for a partial difference equation on \mathbb{Z}^2 is an expression of the form

$$(S_k - id)F + (S_l - id)G = 0 (1.11)$$

that is satisfied on all solutions of the equation. Here *id* is the identity mapping and S_k, S_l are forward shifts of the coordinates k and l respectively:

$$S_k: (k, l, u(k, l)) \to (k+1, l, u(k+1, l)), \qquad S_l: (k, l, u(k, l)) \to (k, l+1, u(k, l+1)).$$

This is the general form of the kernel of the Euler equation [36]. Other forms are possible, e. g.

$$(S_k F)(S_l G) = FG.$$

Analytic properties may not be preserved by going from one form to another.

Just as a local conservation law for a PDE can be integrated to obtain global conserved quantities, so (1.11) can be summed over m or n to obtain such quantities for difference equations.

The conservation laws for the dpmKdV equation

$$u_{1,1} = u_{0,0} \frac{\nu(k,l)u_{1,0} - u_{0,1}}{\nu(k,l)u_{0,1} - u_{1,0}},$$
(1.12)

were considered in [34]. Here $\nu(k, l)$ is an arbitrary function. The functions F and G were chosen in the form

$$F = F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}),$$

$$G = G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}).$$

In [34] it was found that conservation laws for (1.12) exist only in the case when

$$\nu(k,l) = \alpha(k)\beta(l),$$

where $\alpha(k)$ and $\beta(l)$ are arbitrary functions. The conservation laws for the dpmKdV equation are

$$\begin{split} F_1 &= -\frac{u_{0,0}u_{0,1}}{\beta(l)}, & G_1 &= \alpha(k)u_{0,0}u_{1,0}, \\ F_2 &= -\frac{1}{\beta(l)u_{0,0}u_{0,1}}, & G_2 &= \frac{\alpha(k)}{u_{0,0}u_{1,0}}, \\ F_3 &= -\beta(l)\left(\frac{u_{0,1}}{u_{0,0}} + \frac{u_{0,0}}{u_{0,1}}\right), & G_3 &= \frac{1}{\alpha(k)}\left(\frac{u_{1,0}}{u_{0,0}} + \frac{u_{0,0}}{u_{1,0}}\right), \\ F_4 &= (-1)^{k+l}\beta(l)\left(\frac{u_{0,1}}{u_{0,0}} - \frac{u_{0,0}}{u_{0,1}}\right), & G_4 &= -\frac{(-1)^{k+l}}{\alpha(k)}\left(\frac{u_{1,0}}{u_{0,0}} - \frac{u_{0,0}}{u_{1,0}}\right). \end{split}$$

1.3 Symmetries

Symmetries of $P\Delta E$'s first appeared as similarity constraints for integrable lattices. In [50], it is shown that discrete analogues of the Painlevé equations arise from similarity constraints. Similarity constraints and reductions to discrete Painlevé equations for the cross-ratio, discrete Korteweg-de Vries (dKdV) and discrete potential modified Korteweg-de Vries equations were later considered in [26, 46, 47, 48, 52, 53]. One notable feature of similarity constraints for quad-graphs is that circle patterns can be formed for certain initial conditions [6, 7, 13, 15]. Recently, Tongas *et al.* pointed out that the similarity constraints for quad-graph equations obtained previously are equivalent to characteristics of symmetries [73]. They used an indirect method to discover mastersymmetries and higher-order symmetries for the dKdV equation. Symmetries of several other quad-graph equations have been found in [38, 39, 60, 72].

An alternative approach to symmetries of difference equations (not only integrable ones) is to try to construct discretizations of differential equations that retain all Lie point symmetries of the original system [17, 19, 20, 40, 41]. This requires a non-constant grid; in effect, the original continuous independent variables become extra dependent variables in the discretized system.

For a given difference equation, whether it is integrable or not, the main problem in finding symmetries is solving the linearized symmetry condition, which is a functional equation. Hydon developed a direct method of solving such functional equations by creating an associated system of differential equations that can be solved [32, 34].

1.4 Overview of the thesis

The goal of the thesis is to describe methods for calculating conservation laws and symmetries of partial difference equations and to find them for parameter-rich classes of integrable, scalar equations on the quad-graph.

Chapter 2 deals with conservation laws of difference equations. The structure of this chapter is as follows: §2.1 describes the direct method for calculating conservation laws of quad-graph equations. §2.2 is a classification of all three-point conservation laws for the NQC equation. In §2.3 there is a list of all three-point conservation laws for each equation in the ABS classification; three five-point conservation laws for each ABS equation are given in §2.4.

Chapter 3 deals with symmetries of difference equations. The chapter begins with an introduction to the theory that is the basis for our calculations. In §3.2, we explain the method of finding local symmetries. §3.3 lists all symmetries on the 3×3 square for equations from the ABS classification; mastersymmetries are given in §3.4.

Chapter 4 shows an example of symmetries and conservation laws for Toda type equations. In §4.1, we explain the connection between symmetries of equations from the ABS classification and those of the corresponding Toda type equations. In §4.2, conservation laws for a Toda type system are given.

Applications of symmetries and conservation laws are presented in Chapter 5. A method that enables one to generate a new law from a known one is described in §5.1. In §5.2 we use conservation laws as an indicator of integrability for generalized nonautonomous dKdV and dpmKdV equations. To illustrate one of the most common applications of symmetries, §5.3 describes the construction of a group-invariant solution.

In Chapter 6, we draw conclusions and describe some open problems.

Programs which help to find three-point conservation laws and five-point symmetries for quad-graph equations are presented in the Appendix.

Chapter 2

Conservation laws

2.1 The Method

The general form of a scalar $P\Delta E$ on the quad-graph is:

$$P(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}) = 0.$$
(2.1)

A conservation law for any quad-graph equation (2.1) is an expression of the form

$$(S_k - id)F + (S_l - id)G = 0$$
 (2.2)

that is satisfied by all solutions of the equation. Here the functions F and G are the components of the conservation law and id is the identity mapping.

A conservation law is trivial if it holds identically (not just on solutions of the $P\Delta E$), or if F and G both vanish on all solutions of (2.1).

We consider conservation laws that lie on the quad-graph. This means that the functions F, G, S_kF and S_lG must depend upon only k, l, $u_{0,0}$, $u_{1,0}$, $u_{0,1}$ and $u_{1,1}$. Consequently the most general form of F and G is:

$$F = F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}), \qquad (2.3)$$

$$G = G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}).$$
(2.4)

The dependence of F and G upon the continuous variables $u_{i,j}$ is illustrated in Figure 2.1; together, these functions lie on three points of the quad-graph. For this reason, we call such conservation laws three-point conservation laws.



Figure 2.1: Three-point conservation law

The three-point conservation laws can be determined directly by substituting (2.1) into

$$F(k+1, l, u_{1,0}, u_{1,1}) - F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}) + G(k, l+1, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}) - G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}) = 0, \quad (2.5)$$

and solving the resulting functional equation. Suppose that (2.1) can be solved for $u_{1,1}$ as follows:

$$u_{1,1} = \omega(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}).$$
(2.6)

(This means that (2.6) and (2.1) are entirely equivalent.) Then (2.5) amounts to

$$F(k+1, l, u_{1,0}, \omega) - F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}) + G(k, l+1, u_{0,1}, \omega) - G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}) = 0.$$
(2.7)

In order to solve this functional equation we have to reduce it to a system of partial differential equations. To do this, first eliminate functional terms $F(k + 1, l, u_{1,0}, \omega)$ and $G(k, l + 1, u_{0,1}, \omega)$ by applying each of the following (commuting) differential operators to (2.7):

$$L_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{0,1}} - \frac{\omega_{u_{0,1}}}{\omega_{u_{0,0}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{0,0}}, \qquad L_2 = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{1,0}} - \frac{\omega_{u_{1,0}}}{\omega_{u_{0,0}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{0,0}},$$

where $\omega_{u_{i,j}}$ denotes $\frac{\partial \omega}{\partial u_{i,j}}$. The operators L_1 and L_2 differentiate with respect to $u_{0,1}$ and $u_{1,0}$ respectively, keeping ω fixed, so

$$L_1(F(k+1,l,u_{1,0},\omega)) = 0, \qquad L_2(G(k,l+1,u_{0,1},\omega)) = 0.$$

This procedure does not depend upon the form of ω ; it can be applied equally to any quad-graph equation. Applying L_1 and L_2 to (2.7) yields

$$L_1 L_2 \Big(F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}) + G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}) \Big) = 0.$$
(2.8)

If (2.8) is divided by the factor that multiplies a particular derivative of $G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0})$ and is then differentiated with respect to $u_{0,1}$, we obtain a functional differential equation which is independent of that derivative. This process is repeated for each derivative of $G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0})$ and finally for $G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0})$ itself; this produces a PDE for $F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1})$. If the coefficients involve $u_{1,0}$, the PDE can be split into a system of PDEs.

Further information about F may be found by substituting

$$u_{1,0} = \Omega(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1})$$

into (2.5). Here $u_{1,0} = \Omega$ is another representation of (2.1). Then (2.5) amounts to

$$F(k+1,l,\Omega,u_{1,1}) - F(k,l,u_{0,0},u_{0,1}) + G(k,l+1,u_{0,1},u_{1,1}) - G(k,l,u_{0,0},\Omega) = 0.$$
(2.9)

We eliminate the terms $F(k + 1, l, \Omega, u_{1,1})$ and $G(k, l, u_{0,0}, \Omega)$ by applying each of the following (commuting) differential operators to (2.9):

$$L_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{0,0}} - \frac{\Omega_{u_{0,0}}}{\Omega_{u_{0,1}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{0,1}}, \qquad L_4 = \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{1,1}} - \frac{\Omega_{u_{1,1}}}{\Omega_{u_{0,1}}} \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{0,1}}.$$

This yields

$$L_{3}L_{4}\Big(-F(k,l,u_{0,0},u_{0,1})+G(k,l+1,u_{0,1},u_{1,1})\Big)=0.$$

This equation can also be reduced to a system of partial differential equations for $F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1})$ which (typically) is different from obtained previously.

Having differentiated the determining equation for a conservation law several times, we have created a hierarchy of functional differential equations that every three-point conservation law must satisfy. The functions F and G can be determined completely by going up the hierarchy, a step at a time, to determine the constraints that these equations place on the unknown functions. As the constraints are solved sequentially, more and more information is gained about the functions. At the highest stage, the determining equation (2.7) is satisfied, and the only remaining unknowns are the constants that multiply each conservation law.

Mansfield and Szanto [44] proved that the algorithm for finding conservation laws and symmetries is well-founded. In other words, it will yield all conservation laws and symmetries of a given class whenever the equation can be put in the form (2.6).

....)

In essence, the above approach is a generalization of a method introduced in 1823 by Abel, who solved functional equations for which each function depends on a single continuous variable [1]. (For a modern description of Abel's method, see [2].) Surprisingly, this method was not applied to the problem of finding symmetries and first integrals of difference equations until Hydon used it in 1999. Until then, symmetries had been found by series techniques and other Ansätze (see [32] for a discussion). In 2000, Hydon generalized this approach to deal with functions that depend upon several continuous variables, enabling conservation laws to be found systematically [34]. However, as the number of variables increases, the length of the functional differential equations grows exponentially. This 'expression swell' limits the complexity of the conservation laws that can be found by the direct method. Therefore great care is needed to ensure that differentiations are applied in an order that minimizes expression swell. At present, this is still something of an art.

2.1.1 Example of conservation laws of the discrete KdV equation

The Korteweg-de Vries equation is [30]:

$$(p+q+v_{1,1}-v_{0,0})(q-p+v_{1,0}-v_{0,1})=q^2-p^2, \qquad (2.10)$$

which is an integrable quad-graph equation. Here p, q are parameters and $p^2 \neq q^2$. To simply matters, we use the transformation

$$v(k,l) = u(k,l)\sqrt{q^2 - p^2} - qk - pl$$

to reduce (2.10) to

$$(u_{1,1} - u_{0,0})(u_{1,0} - u_{0,1}) = 1.$$
(2.11)

We shall call this equation dKdV. As with all integrable quad-graph equations, the dKdV equation may be solved to write any one of $u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}$ in terms of the other three. In particular, we will write the dKdV equation as either

$$u_{1,1} = \omega$$
, where $\omega = \frac{1}{u_{1,0} - u_{0,1}} + u_{0,0}$

or

$$u_{1,0} = \Omega$$
, where $\Omega = \frac{1}{u_{1,1} - u_{0,0}} + u_{0,1}$

With help of L_1, L_2 the determining equation (2.7) for the dKdV equation is reduced to

$$F_{u_{0,0}u_{0,0}} + G_{u_{0,0}u_{0,0}} - (u_{1,0} - u_{0,1})^2 (F_{u_{0,0}u_{0,1}} - G_{u_{0,0}u_{1,0}}) - 2(u_{1,0} - u_{0,1})(F_{u_{0,0}} + G_{u_{0,0}}) = 0, \quad (2.12)$$

where $F = F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1})$ and $G = G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0})$. Differentiating (2.12) three times with respect to $u_{0,1}$ eliminates G and its derivatives, leaving the necessary condition

$$F_{u_{0,0}^2 u_{0,1}^3} - (u_{1,0} - u_{0,1})^2 F_{u_{0,0} u_{0,1}^4} + 4(u_{1,0} - u_{0,1}) F_{u_{0,0} u_{0,1}^3} = 0.$$
(2.13)

This equation can be split into an overdetermined system by equating powers of $u_{1,0}$. Further information about F may be found by substituting $u_{1,0} = \Omega$ into (2.5). Differentiating

$$F(k+1, l, \Omega, u_{1,1}) - F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}) + G(k, l+1, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}) - G(k, l, u_{0,0}, \Omega) = 0$$

with respect to $u_{0,0}$, $u_{1,1}$ and keeping Ω fixed yields

$$F_{u_{0,1}u_{0,1}} - \tilde{G}_{u_{0,1}u_{0,1}} - (u_{1,1} - u_{0,0})^2 (F_{u_{0,0}u_{0,1}} + \tilde{G}_{u_{0,1}u_{1,1}}) - 2(u_{1,1} - u_{0,0})(F_{u_{0,0}} - \tilde{G}_{u_{0,1}}) = 0,$$
(2.14)

where $\tilde{G} = G(k, l + 1, u_{0,0}, u_{1,1})$. The function \tilde{G} and its derivatives are eliminated by differentiating three times with respect to $u_{0,1}$, which yields

$$F_{u_{0,0}} \mathfrak{s}_{u_{0,1}} \mathfrak{s}_{u_{0,1}} - (u_{1,1} - u_{0,0})^2 F_{u_{0,0}} \mathfrak{s}_{u_{0,1}} + 4(u_{1,1} - u_{0,0}) F_{u_{0,0}} \mathfrak{s}_{u_{0,1}} = 0.$$
(2.15)

The overdetermined system of partial differential equations (2.13), (2.15) is easily solved to obtain

$$F = C_1 u_{0,0} u_{0,1} + C_2 u_{0,0}^2 u_{0,1} + C_3 u_{0,0} u_{0,1}^2 + C_4 u_{0,0}^2 u_{0,1}^2 + F_1 + F_2,$$
(2.16)

where each C_i is an arbitrary function of k, l, and $F_1 = F_1(k, l, u_{0,1})$, $F_2 = F_2(k, l, u_{0,0})$ are arbitrary functions. The term $F_2(k, l, u_{0,0})$ can be removed (without loss of generality) by adding the trivial conservation law

$$F_T = (S_l - id)F_2,$$

$$G_T = -(S_k - id)F_2$$

to F and G respectively.

So far, we have differentiated the determining equations for a conservation law five times; this has created a hierarchy of functional differential equations that every three-point conservation law must satisfy. The unknown functions C_i , F_1 and G are found by going up the hierarchy, a step at a time, to determine the constraints these equations place on the unknown functions.

By this technique we have found all independent nontrivial three-point conservation laws for the dKdV equation; they are as follows:

- 1. $F = u_{0,0} (u_{0,1})^2 (u_{0,0})^2 u_{0,1} + u_{0,0} u_{0,1},$ $G = (u_{0,0})^2 u_{1,0} - u_{0,0} (u_{1,0})^2,$
- 2. $F = (-1)^{k+l+1} \left\{ u_{0,0} (u_{0,1})^2 + (u_{0,0})^2 u_{0,1} u_{0,0} u_{0,1} \right\},$ $G = (-1)^{k+l} \left\{ (u_{0,0})^2 u_{1,0} + u_{0,0} (u_{1,0})^2 \right\},$
- 3. $F = (-1)^{k+l+1} \left\{ \left(u_{0,0} u_{0,1} \right)^2 2 u_{0,0} u_{0,1} + \frac{1}{2} \right\},\$ $G = (-1)^{k+l} \left\{ \left(u_{0,0} u_{1,0} \right)^2 \right\},\$
- 4. $F = (-1)^{k+l+1} \left\{ u_{0,0} u_{0,1} \frac{1}{2} \right\},$ $G = (-1)^{k+l} \left\{ u_{0,0} u_{1,0} \right\}.$

Three of these conservation laws depend on k and l explicitly. If we had chosen functions F and G that depended only upon $u_{i,j}$ on the quad-graph (and not also upon k and l), we would have found only the first of the four three-point conservation laws.

2.2 Conservation laws for NQC-type equations.

The purpose of the current section is to use the direct method to classify the threepoint conservation laws of a wide class of integrable quad-graphs that were introduced by Nijhoff, Quispel and Capel [51]. These are of the form

$$\frac{(p+s)u_{1,0} - (p-r)u_{0,0} - 1}{(q+s)u_{0,1} - (q-r)u_{0,0} - 1} = \frac{(q+r)u_{1,1} - (q-s)u_{1,0} - 1}{(p+r)u_{1,1} - (p-s)u_{0,1} - 1},$$
(2.17)

where r, s are free constant parameters. The parameters p and q can be interpreted as the corresponding constant lattice parameters. We shall refer to (2.17) as the NQC equation; the factors $(p \pm r)$, $(p \pm s)$, $(q \pm r)$ and $(q \pm s)$ will be called the *coefficients* of the NQC equation.

2.2.1 Simplification of the NQC equation

We begin by showing that the NQC equation is mapped to another NQC equation under the group of equivalence transformations D_4 generated by rotations and reflections.

First consider rotations. Let

$$\hat{k} = -l, \quad \hat{l} = k, \quad \hat{u}(\hat{k}, \hat{l}) = u(\hat{l}, -\hat{k}) = u(k, l).$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{u}(\hat{k}-1,\hat{l}) &= u(\hat{l},1-\hat{k}) = u(k,l+1), \\ \hat{u}(\hat{k}-1,\hat{l}+1) &= u(\hat{l}+1,1-\hat{k}) = u(k+1,l+1), \\ \hat{u}(\hat{k},\hat{l}+1) &= u(\hat{l}+1,-\hat{k}) = u(k+1,l). \end{aligned}$$

Note that $S_{\hat{k}}^{-1}\hat{u}(\hat{k},\hat{l}) = S_l u(k,l)$ and $S_{\hat{l}}\hat{u}(\hat{k},\hat{l}) = S_k u(k,l)$. The NQC equation (2.17) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{(p+s)\hat{u}_{0,1} - (p-r)\hat{u}_{0,0} - 1}{(q+s)\hat{u}_{-1,0} - (q-r)\hat{u}_{0,0} - 1} = \frac{(q+r)\hat{u}_{-1,1} - (q-s)\hat{u}_{0,1} - 1}{(p+r)u_{-1,1} - (p-s)\hat{u}_{-1,0} - 1},$$
(2.18)

where $\hat{u}_{i,j} = \hat{u}(\hat{k} + i, \hat{l} + j)$. Apply $S_{\hat{k}}$ to (2.18) and then rearrange to obtain

$$\frac{(-q+r)\hat{u}_{1,0}-(-q-s)\hat{u}_{0,0}-1}{(p+r)\hat{u}_{0,1}-(p-s)\hat{u}_{0,0}-1}=\frac{(p+s)\hat{u}_{1,1}-(p-r)\hat{u}_{1,0}-1}{(-q+s)\hat{u}_{1,1}-(-q-r)\hat{u}_{0,1}-1}$$

This is of the form

$$\frac{(\hat{p}+\hat{s})\hat{u}_{1,0}-(\hat{p}-\hat{r})\hat{u}_{0,0}-1}{(\hat{q}+\hat{s})\hat{u}_{0,1}-(\hat{q}-\hat{r})\hat{u}_{0,0}-1} = \frac{(\hat{q}+\hat{r})\hat{u}_{1,1}-(\hat{q}-\hat{s})\hat{u}_{1,0}-1}{(\hat{p}+\hat{r})\hat{u}_{1,1}-(\hat{p}-\hat{s})\hat{u}_{0,1}-1}$$
(2.19)

where

$$(\hat{p}, \hat{q}, \hat{r}, \hat{s}) = (-q, p, s, r).$$
 (2.20)

Therefore this rotation generates the equivalence transformation

$$\Gamma_a: (p,q,r,s) \mapsto (-q,p,s,r). \tag{2.21}$$

Suppose that for a particular choice of parameters $(\hat{p}, \hat{q}, \hat{r}, \hat{s})$ equation (2.19) has a conservation law

$$(S_{\hat{k}} - \mathrm{id})\hat{F}(\hat{k}, \hat{l}, \hat{u}_{0,0}, \hat{u}_{0,1}) + (S_{\hat{l}} - \mathrm{id})\hat{G}(\hat{k}, \hat{l}, \hat{u}_{0,0}, \hat{u}_{1,0}) = 0.$$
(2.22)

Then, applying $S_{\hat{k}}^{-1}$ to this and expanding, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \hat{F}(\hat{k},\hat{l},\hat{u}_{0,0},\hat{u}_{0,1}) - \hat{F}(\hat{k}-1,l,\hat{u}_{-1,0},\hat{u}_{-1,1}) + \hat{G}(\hat{k}-1,l+1,\hat{u}_{-1,1},\hat{u}_{0,1}) \\ - \hat{G}(\hat{k}-1,\hat{l},\hat{u}_{-1,0},\hat{u}_{0,0}) = 0. \end{split}$$

In terms of the original variables, this amounts to

$$\hat{F}(-l,k,u_{0,0},u_{1,0}) - \hat{F}(-l-1,k,u_{0,1},u_{1,1}) + \hat{G}(-l-1,k+1,u_{1,1},u_{1,0}) \\ - \hat{G}(-l-1,k,u_{0,1},u_{0,0}) = 0,$$

which can be written as

$$(S_k - \mathrm{id})\hat{G}(-l - 1, k, u_{0,1}, u_{0,0}) + (S_l - \mathrm{id})[-\hat{F}(-l, k, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0})] = 0.$$
(2.23)

This is a conservation law for the original NQC equation (2.17) with the parameters $(p, q, r, s) = (\hat{q}, -\hat{p}, \hat{s}, \hat{r}).$

In the same way, we can examine the effect of reflections upon conservation laws. Let

$$\hat{k} = -k, \quad \hat{l} = l, \quad \hat{u}(\hat{k}, \hat{l}) = u(-\hat{k}, \hat{l}) = u(k, l).$$

Then

$$\hat{u}(\hat{k}-1,\hat{l}) = u(1-\hat{k},\hat{l}) = u(k+1,l),$$
$$\hat{u}(\hat{k}-1,\hat{l}+1) = u(1-\hat{k},\hat{l}+1) = u(k+1,l+1),$$
$$\hat{u}(\hat{k},\hat{l}+1) = u(-\hat{k},\hat{l}+1) = u(k,l+1).$$

So $S_{\hat{k}}^{-1}\hat{u}(\hat{k},\hat{l}) = S_k u(k,l)$ and $S_{\hat{l}}\hat{u}(\hat{k},\hat{l}) = S_l u(k,l)$. As before, write the NQC equation (2.17) in terms of the new variable as follows:

$$\frac{(p+s)\hat{u}_{-1,0}-(p-r)\hat{u}_{0,0}-1}{(q+s)\hat{u}_{0,1}-(q-r)\hat{u}_{0,0}-1}=\frac{(q+r)\hat{u}_{-1,1}-(q-s)\hat{u}_{-1,0}-1}{(p+r)\hat{u}_{-1,1}-(p-s)\hat{u}_{0,1}-1}$$

Now apply $S_{\hat{k}}$ and rearrange to obtain

$$\frac{(-p+r)\hat{u}_{1,0}-(-p-s)\hat{u}_{0,0}-1}{(q+r)\hat{u}_{0,1}-(q-s)\hat{u}_{0,0}-1}=\frac{(q+s)\hat{u}_{1,1}-(q-r)\hat{u}_{1,0}-1}{(-p+s)\hat{u}_{1,1}-(-p-r)\hat{u}_{0,1}-1}.$$

This is of the form (2.19) with

$$(\hat{p}, \hat{q}, \hat{r}, \hat{s}) = (-p, q, s, r).$$
 (2.24)

Therefore the above reflection amounts to the equivalence transformation

$$\Gamma_b: (p,q,r,s) \mapsto (-p,q,s,r). \tag{2.25}$$

The conservation law (2.22) amounts (after applying $S_{\hat{k}^{-1}}$) to

$$(S_k - \mathrm{id})[-\hat{F}(-k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1})] + (S_l - \mathrm{id})\hat{G}(-k - 1, l, u_{1,0}, u_{0,0}) = 0.$$
(2.26)

Note that r + s and $|p^2 - q^2|$ are invariants of the group generated by Γ_a and Γ_b .

For certain parameter values, the NQC equation is degenerate in one of two senses: either it can be factorized into a pair of linear PDEs, or it can be integrated to yield an $O\Delta E$. These degenerate cases are classified by the following two lemmas.

Lemma 2.1. If $p^2 = q^2$ then the NQC equation is factorizable.

Proof. Substituting p = q into (2.17) and rearranging this as a polynomial equation gives the factorization

$$(u_{1,0} - u_{0,1}) \left[(q+r)(q+s)u_{1,1} - (q-r)(q-s)u_{0,0} - 2q \right] = 0.$$

Substituting p = -q into (2.17) gives

$$(u_{0,0} - u_{1,1})[(q+r)(q+s)u_{0,1} - (q-r)(q-s)u_{1,0} - 2q] = 0.$$

Lemma 2.2. If at least one of p, q and at least one of r, s are zero then the NQC equation may be reduced to an $O\Delta E$.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we may restrict attention to the case q = r = 0. All other cases may be obtained from this one by using Γ_a and Γ_b . Note that if p = q = r = 0 then (2.17) is a trivial equation, so assume that $p \neq 0$.

If s = 0 then the NQC equation reduces to

$$[1 + p(u_{0,1} - u_{1,1})] [1 + p(u_{0,0} - u_{1,0})] = 1.$$

Hence

$$(S_l + \mathrm{id}) \ln \left[1 + p(u_{0,0} - u_{1,0})\right] = 0,$$

which reduces to the $O\Delta E$

$$\ln\left[1+p(u_{0,0}-u_{1,0})\right]=(-1)^lf(k),$$

where f(k) is an arbitrary function.

If $p \neq s \neq 0$ then the substitution $u(k,l) \mapsto (1 - s/p)^k u(k,l) + 1/s$ reduces the NQC equation to

$$\frac{(p^2-s^2)u_{1,0}-p^2u_{0,0}}{s^2u_{1,0}}=\frac{u_{0,1}}{u_{1,1}-u_{0,1}},$$

which can be rearranged as

$$(S_l + id) \ln \left(1 - \frac{u_{0,0}}{u_{1,0}}\right) = \ln \left(\frac{s^2}{p^2}\right)$$

This may be integrated to yield the $O\Delta E$

$$\ln\left(1-\frac{u_{0,0}}{u_{1,0}}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\ln\left(\frac{s^2}{p^2}\right) + (-1)^l f(k).$$

Finally, if $p = s \neq 0$ then $u(k, l) \mapsto u(k, l) + 1/s$ reduces the NQC equation to

$$(S_l + \mathrm{id})\left(\frac{u_{0,0}}{u_{1,0}}\right) = 2,$$

which yields the $O\Delta E$

$$\frac{u_{0,0}}{u_{1,0}} = 1 + (-1)^l f(k).$$

We now seek to to simplify the NQC equation by using equivalence transformations. All choices of p, q, r, s are considered, subject only to the two nondegeneracy constraints:

$$1. p^2 \neq q^2;$$

2. at most one element in each of the pairs $\{p, r\}$, $\{p, s\}$, $\{q, r\}$, $\{q, s\}$ is zero.

These constraints will be assumed to hold from here on. We will use point transformations of the form

$$u(k,l) \mapsto \lambda^k \mu^l u(k,l) + f(k,l),$$

where λ , μ are nonzero constants, to simplify the coefficients of the NQC equation.

Case I: s = r, $(p^2 - r^2)(q^2 - r^2) \neq 0$

In this case, the NQC equation can be transformed into the cross-ratio equation [47],

$$\frac{\alpha(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0})}{\beta(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0})} = \frac{u_{1,1} - u_{1,0}}{u_{1,1} - u_{0,1}}, \qquad \alpha \neq 0, \quad \beta \neq 0, \quad \alpha \neq \beta.$$
(2.27)

Here $\alpha = p^2 - r^2$ and $\beta = q^2 - r^2$. If r = s = 0, the required transformation is

$$u(k,l) \mapsto u(k,l) + \frac{k}{p} + \frac{l}{q}, \qquad (2.28)$$

which gives $\alpha = p^2$ and $\beta = q^2$. Otherwise, the transformation is

$$u(k,l) \mapsto \left(\frac{p-r}{p+r}\right)^k \left(\frac{q-r}{q+r}\right)^l u(k,l) + \frac{1}{2r}; \qquad (2.29)$$

Case II: s = r, $(p^2 - r^2)(q^2 - r^2) = 0$

Here at least one of the coefficients $(p \pm r)$ and $(q \pm r)$ is zero. Furthermore, the nondegeneracy constraints are only satisfied if exactly one such coefficient is zero. Consequently r is nonzero. By using the equivalence transformations generated by Γ_a , we can set q + r = 0 without loss of generality; then the NQC equation amounts to

$$\frac{(p+r)u_{1,0}-(p-r)u_{0,0}-1}{2ru_{0,0}-1}=\frac{2ru_{1,0}-1}{(p+r)u_{1,1}-(p-r)u_{0,1}-1}$$

The point transformation

$$u(k,l) \mapsto \left(\frac{p-r}{p+r}\right)^k \left(\frac{4r^2}{p^2-r^2}\right)^l u(k,l) + \frac{1}{2r}$$
 (2.30)

reduces the NQC equation to

$$\frac{u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}}{u_{0,0}} = \frac{u_{1,0}}{u_{1,1} - u_{0,1}}.$$
(2.31)

Case III: $s = -r \neq 0$

Here the NQC equation amounts to

$$\frac{(p-r)(u_{1,0}-u_{0,0})-1}{(q-r)(u_{0,1}-u_{0,0})-1}=\frac{(q+r)(u_{1,1}-u_{1,0})-1}{(p+r)(u_{1,1}-u_{0,1})-1}.$$

At least three of the four coefficients must be nonzero, for otherwise the nondegeneracy constraints are violated. We can use Γ_a and Γ_b to set $(p+r)(q+r) \neq 0$. Then the transformation

$$u(k,l) \mapsto u(k,l) + \frac{k}{p+r} + \frac{l}{q+r}$$
(2.32)

simplifies the NQC equation to

$$\frac{(p^2 - r^2)(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}) - 2r}{(q^2 - r^2)(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}) - 2r} = \frac{u_{1,1} - u_{1,0}}{u_{1,1} - u_{0,1}}, \qquad p^2 \neq q^2, \quad r \neq 0.$$
(2.33)

Case IV: $s^2 \neq r^2$

First note that the transformation

$$u(k,l) \mapsto u(k,l) + \frac{1}{r+s} \tag{2.34}$$

reduces the NQC equation to

$$\frac{(p+s)u_{1,0} - (p-r)u_{0,0}}{(q+s)u_{0,1} - (q-r)u_{0,0}} = \frac{(q+r)u_{1,1} - (q-s)u_{1,0}}{(p+r)u_{1,1} - (p-s)u_{0,1}}.$$
(2.35)

At least one of the coefficients in each numerator and denominator in (2.35) must be nonzero, for otherwise (2.35) reduces to an O ΔE or a trivial identity. Therefore at least four of the eight coefficients are nonzero. Suppose that (2.35) can be transformed by an element of the group generated by Γ_a , Γ_b into a form for which

$$(p+r)(p-s)(q+r)(q-s) \neq 0.$$
 (2.36)

Then the transformation

$$u(k,l) \mapsto \left(\frac{p-s}{p+r}\right)^k \left(\frac{q-s}{q+r}\right)^l u(k,l)$$
 (2.37)

reduces (2.35) to

$$\frac{(p^2 - s^2)u_{1,0} - (p^2 - r^2)u_{0,0}}{(q^2 - s^2)u_{0,1} - (q^2 - r^2)u_{0,0}} = \frac{u_{1,1} - u_{1,0}}{u_{1,1} - u_{0,1}}, \qquad p^2 \neq q^2 \quad s^2 \neq r^2.$$
(2.38)

We have already seen that this equation can be reduced to $\mathbf{Q3}_{\delta=0}$, which has two essential parameters.

All that remains is to consider whether there are any circumstances in which the coefficients cannot be transformed to satisfy (2.36). If only one coefficient is zero, it can be transformed into q + s = 0, which does not violate (2.36). Suppose then, that q + s = 0 and that at least one of the factors in (2.36) is also zero. Clearly, p - s and q - s must be nonzero to satisfy the nondegeneracy constraints. The case q + r = 0 does not need to be considered, as this violates $s^2 \neq r^2$. Finally, if p + r = q + s = 0 then the rotation Γ_a transforms these conditions to q + s = -p + r = 0, and so (2.36) is satisfied.

This completes the classification of the simplified forms of the NQC equation. We have shown that, up to equivalence transformations, the only nondegenerate cases of NQC may be mapped to one of (2.27), (2.31), (2.33) and (2.38).

2.2.2 Three-point conservation laws of the simplified equations

In this section we present a complete classification of the three-point conservation laws of (2.27), (2.31), (2.33) and (2.38). These conservation laws have been obtained by the method described in Section 2.1. The computer algebra system MAPLE [74](see Appendix A.1) was used to carry out the calculations, details of which are omitted.

Case I A complete set of three-point conservation laws for the cross-ratio equation (2.27) is

1)
$$F = \frac{\alpha}{u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}},$$

 $G = -\frac{\beta}{u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}},$

2)
$$F = \frac{\alpha u_{0,0}}{u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}},$$
$$G = -\frac{\beta u_{1,0}}{u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}},$$
3)
$$F = \frac{\alpha u_{0,0} u_{0,1}}{u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}},$$

$$G = -\frac{\beta u_{0,0} u_{1,0}}{u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}},$$

4)
$$F = (-1)^{k+l} (2 \ln[u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}] - \ln[\alpha]),$$

 $G = -(-1)^{k+l} (2 \ln[u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}] - \ln[\beta]).$

Case II A complete set of three-point conservation laws for equation (2.31) is

1)
$$F = \frac{u_{0,1}}{u_{0,0}},$$

 $G = \frac{u_{1,0}}{u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}},$
2) $F = (-1)^{k+l} \ln[u_{0,0}],$
 $G = -(-1)^{k+l} \ln[u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}].$

Case III A complete set of three-point conservation laws for equation (2.33) is

1)
$$F = \ln \left[\frac{(q^2 - r^2)(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}) - 2r}{u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}} \right],$$

$$G = -\ln \left[\frac{(p^2 - r^2)(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}) - 2r}{u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}} \right],$$

2)
$$F = (-1)^{k+l} \ln[(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0})((q^2 - r^2)(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}) - 2r)],$$

$$G = -(-1)^{k+l} \ln[(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0})((p^2 - r^2)(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}) - 2r)].$$

Case IV A complete set of three-point conservation laws for equation (2.38), except for the cases p = r, q = -s and p = -s, q = r, is

1)
$$F = \ln \left[\frac{u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}}{(q^2 - s^2)u_{0,1} - (q^2 - r^2)u_{0,0}} \right],$$

$$G = -\ln \left[\frac{u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}}{(p^2 - s^2)u_{1,0} - (p^2 - r^2)u_{0,0}} \right],$$

2)
$$F = (-1)^{k+l} \ln[(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0})((q^2 - s^2)u_{0,1} - (q^2 - r^2)u_{0,0})],$$

$$G = -(-1)^{k+l} \ln[(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0})((p^2 - s^2)u_{1,0} - (p^2 - r^2)u_{0,0})].$$

If p = r, q = -s in (2.38) then the three-point conservation laws are

31

1)
$$F = \ln \left[\frac{u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}}{u_{0,0}} \right],$$

 $G = -\ln \left[\frac{u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}}{u_{1,0}} \right],$

2)
$$F = (-1)^{k+l} \ln[u_{0,0}(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0})],$$

 $G = -(-1)^{k+l} \ln[u_{1,0}(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0})],$

3)
$$F = (k+l) \ln \left[\frac{u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}}{u_{0,1}} \right] - \ln[u_{0,1}u_{0,0}],$$

 $G = -(k+l) \ln \left[\frac{u_{0,0}(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0})}{u_{1,0}^2} \right].$

Finally, if p = -s, q = r then the three-point conservation laws are

1)
$$F = \ln \left[\frac{u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}}{u_{0,1}} \right],$$

 $G = -\ln \left[\frac{u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}}{u_{0,0}} \right],$
2) $F = (-1)^{k+l} \ln[u_{0,1}(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0})],$
 $G = -(-1)^{k+l} \ln[u_{0,0}(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0})],$
3) $F = (k+l) \ln \left[\frac{u_{0,0}(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{0,1}^2} \right],$
 $G = -(k+l) \ln \left[\frac{u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}}{u_{1,0}} \right] + \ln[u_{1,0}u_{0,0}].$

2.2.3 Constructing the conservation laws of the NQC equation

Having classified the conservation laws of the simplified representatives of each equivalence class, we now show how to obtain conservation laws of the original NQC equation for a particular example. If

$$(p,q,r,s) = (-1,2,1,1) \tag{2.39}$$

then the NQC equation amounts to

$$\frac{2u_{0,0}-1}{3u_{0,1}-u_{0,0}-1} = \frac{3u_{1,1}-u_{1,0}-1}{2u_{0,1}-1}.$$
(2.40)

This case satisfies the condition r = s, p + r = 0, so (2.40) is a subcase of Case II. From the discussion in §2.2.1, all equations in Case II can be obtained by applying one of the

rotations generated by Γ_a to

$$\frac{(\hat{p}+\hat{r})\hat{u}_{1,0}-(\hat{p}-\hat{r})\hat{u}_{0,0}-1}{2\hat{r}\hat{u}_{0,0}-1} = \frac{2\hat{r}\hat{u}_{1,0}-1}{(\hat{p}+\hat{r})\hat{u}_{1,1}-(\hat{p}-\hat{r})\hat{u}_{0,1}-1}.$$
 (2.41)

To obtain the NQC equation with coefficients (2.39) we need to apply Γ_a to (2.41) once. Therefore, from (2.20), the choice of coefficients in (2.41) that corresponds to (2.40) is

$$\frac{3\hat{u}_{0,0} - \hat{u}_{1,0} - 1}{2\hat{u}_{0,0} - 1} = \frac{2\hat{u}_{1,0} - 1}{3\hat{u}_{0,1} - \hat{u}_{1,1} - 1}.$$
(2.42)

Equation (2.42) has two conservation laws which can be obtained from the conservation laws for (2.31) by inverting the transformation (2.30). After rescaling (for convenience), these are

1)
$$\hat{F}(\hat{k}, \hat{l}, \hat{u}_{0,0}, \hat{u}_{0,1}) = -\frac{3(2\hat{u}_{0,1} - 1)}{2(2\hat{u}_{0,0} - 1)},$$

 $\hat{G}(\hat{k}, \hat{l}, \hat{u}_{0,0}, \hat{u}_{1,0}) = \frac{2\hat{u}_{1,0} - 1}{3\hat{u}_{0,0} - \hat{u}_{1,0} - 1},$
2) $\hat{F}(\hat{k}, \hat{l}, \hat{u}_{0,0}, \hat{u}_{0,1}) = (-1)^{\hat{k} + \hat{l} + 1} \ln[1 - 2\hat{u}_{0,0}],$
 $\hat{G}(\hat{k}, \hat{l}, \hat{u}_{0,0}, \hat{u}_{1,0}) = (-1)^{\hat{k} + \hat{l}} \ln[3\hat{u}_{0,0} - \hat{u}_{1,0} - 1].$

So (2.23) tells us that the NQC equation with (p, q, r, s) = (-1, 2, 1, 1) has the two conservation laws

1) $F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}) = \hat{G}(-l - 1, k, u_{0,1}, u_{0,0}) = \frac{2u_{0,0} - 1}{3u_{0,1} - u_{0,0} - 1},$ $G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}) = -\hat{F}(-l, k, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}) = \frac{3(2u_{1,0} - 1)}{2(2u_{0,0} - 1)},$

2)
$$F(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}) = (-1)^{k-l} \ln[3u_{0,1} - u_{0,0} - 1],$$

 $G(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}) = -(-1)^{k-l} \ln[1 - 2u_{0,0}].$

2.3 Three-point conservation laws for ABS equations

In this section we present all three-point conservation laws for integrable equations on the quad-graph that are listed in [5]; these were found by the method described in §2.1.

All three-point conservation laws for these equations are listed in Table 2.1. We omit the details of our calculations, which were carried out using the computer algebra system

MAPLE [74](see Appendix A.1); they are very complex and it is impossible to present them in any suitable form. Three-point conservation laws for H1, H3_{$\delta=0$} and Q1_{$\delta=0$} have already appeared in [34] and previous sections. One conservation law for Q4 involves the following Jacobi elliptic functions with modulus K:

$$\operatorname{cn}(\alpha) = \operatorname{cn}(\alpha; K), \quad \operatorname{ns}(\alpha) = \operatorname{ns}(\alpha; K), \quad \operatorname{dn}(\alpha) = \operatorname{dn}(\alpha; K).$$

This conservation law can be derived from a Bäcklund transformation, as described in [3, 9].

Note that in all three-point conservation laws for ABS equations, the component F does not depend upon α and G does not depend upon β . Therefore the conservation laws from Table 2.1 are valid for all functions $\alpha = \alpha(k)$ and $\beta = \beta(l)$.

For the simplest quad-graph equations $Q1_{\delta=0}$, H1, $H3_{\delta=0}$, there are 4 three-point conservation laws. Orphanidis also found 4 conservation laws for the discrete sine-Gordon equation [58]. This led to an opinion that perhaps this number of conservation laws is associated with integrability. However Table 2.1 shows that many integrable quad-graph equations have fewer than 4 three-point conservation laws. It seems likely that every integrable quad-graph has infinitely many conservation laws (see also Orphanidis' comment [58] about generating these in a nonlocal form by repeated Bäcklund transformations).

Table 2.1: Three-point conservation laws for equations from the ABS classification

Continued on next page

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Q4} & F_1 = -(-1)^{k+l} \ln \left(\operatorname{ns}(\beta) \left(u_{0,1}^2 + u_{0,0}^2 \right) - K^2 \operatorname{sn}(\beta) u_{0,1}^2 u_{0,0}^2 - 2 \operatorname{cn}(\beta) \operatorname{dn}(\beta) \operatorname{ns}(\beta) u_{0,1} u_{0,0} - \operatorname{sn}(\beta) \right), \\ G_1 = (-1)^{k+l} \ln \left(\operatorname{ns}(\alpha) \left(u_{1,0}^2 + u_{0,0}^2 \right) - K^2 \operatorname{sn}(\alpha) u_{1,0}^2 u_{0,0}^2 - 2 \operatorname{cn}(\alpha) \operatorname{dn}(\alpha) \operatorname{ns}(\alpha) u_{1,0} u_{0,0} - \operatorname{sn}(\alpha) \right), \\ F_2 = -\ln(\operatorname{tanh}(\beta) u_{0,0} u_{0,1} + u_{0,0} - u_{0,1} - \operatorname{tanh}(\beta)) + \ln(\operatorname{tanh}(\beta) u_{0,0} u_{0,1} - u_{0,0} + u_{0,1} - \operatorname{tanh}(\beta)), \\ G_2 = \ln(\operatorname{tanh}(\alpha) u_{0,0} u_{1,0} + u_{0,0} - u_{1,0} - \operatorname{tanh}(\alpha)) - \ln(\operatorname{tanh}(\alpha) u_{0,0} u_{1,0} - u_{0,0} + u_{1,0} - \operatorname{tanh}(\alpha)), \end{aligned}$$

H1

$$F_{1} = -(-1)^{k+l} (2u_{0,0}u_{0,1} - \beta), \quad F_{2} = -(u_{0,0} - u_{0,1}) (u_{0,0}u_{0,1} - \beta), \quad F_{3} = -(-1)^{k+l} (u_{0,0} + u_{0,1}) (u_{0,0}u_{0,1} - \beta),$$

$$G_{1} = (-1)^{k+l} (2u_{0,0}u_{1,0} - \alpha), \quad G_{2} = (u_{0,0} - u_{1,0}) (u_{0,0}u_{1,0} - \alpha), \quad G_{3} = (-1)^{k+l} (u_{0,0} + u_{1,0}) (u_{0,0}u_{1,0} - \alpha),$$

$$F_{4} = -(-1)^{k+l} (2u_{0,0}^{2}u_{0,1}^{2} - 4\beta u_{0,0}u_{0,1} + \beta^{2}),$$

$$G_{4} = (-1)^{k+l} (2u_{0,0}^{2}u_{1,0}^{2} - 4\alpha u_{0,0}u_{1,0} + \alpha^{2}),$$

H2

$$F_{1} = -(-1)^{k+l} \left(2u_{0,0}u_{0,1} - \beta^{2} - 2\beta u_{0,0} - 2\beta u_{0,1} \right), \quad F_{2} = -(-1)^{k+l} \ln \left(\beta + u_{0,0} + u_{0,1}\right),$$

$$G_{1} = (-1)^{k+l} \left(2u_{0,0}u_{1,0} - \alpha^{2} - 2\alpha u_{0,0} - 2\alpha u_{1,0} \right), \quad G_{2} = (-1)^{k+l} \ln \left(\alpha + u_{0,0} + u_{1,0}\right),$$

H3_{$$\delta=0$$}

$$F_{1} = -(-1)^{k+l}\beta u_{0,0}u_{0,1}, \quad F_{2} = -(-1)^{k+l}\beta(u_{0,0}u_{0,1})^{-1}, \quad F_{3} = (u_{0,0}^{2} - u_{0,1}^{2})(\beta u_{0,0}u_{0,1})^{-1}, \quad F_{4} = -(-1)^{k+l}(u_{0,0}^{2} + u_{0,1}^{2})(\beta u_{0,0}u_{0,1})^{-1}, \quad G_{1} = (-1)^{k+l}\alpha u_{0,0}u_{1,0}, \quad G_{2} = (-1)^{k+l}\alpha(u_{0,0}u_{1,0})^{-1}, \quad G_{3} = (u_{1,0}^{2} - u_{0,0}^{2})(\alpha u_{0,0}u_{1,0})^{-1}, \quad G_{4} = (-1)^{k+l}(u_{0,0}^{2} + u_{1,0}^{2})(\alpha u_{0,0}u_{1,0})^{-1},$$

· .

Continued on next page

36
$\begin{array}{ll} F_1 = -(-1)^{k+l} \ln \left(\beta + u_{0,0} u_{0,1}\right), & F_2 = -(-1)^{k+l} \beta \left(\beta + 2 u_{0,0} u_{0,1}\right), \\ \\ H3_{\delta=1} & \\ G_1 = (-1)^{k+l} \ln \left(\alpha + u_{0,0} u_{1,0}\right), & G_2 = (-1)^{k+l} \alpha \left(\alpha + 2 u_{0,0} u_{1,0}\right), \end{array}$

 $\begin{aligned} \mathbf{A1}_{\delta=0} & F_1 = -(-1)^{k+l}\beta(u_{0,0} + u_{0,1})^{-1}, \quad F_2 = \beta u_{0,0}(u_{0,0} + u_{0,1})^{-1}, \quad F_3 = -(-1)^{k+l}\beta u_{0,0}u_{0,1}(u_{0,0} + u_{0,1})^{-1}, \\ G_1 = (-1)^{k+l}\alpha(u_{0,0} + u_{1,0})^{-1}, \quad G_2 = \alpha u_{1,0}(u_{0,0} + u_{1,0})^{-1}, \quad G_3 = (-1)^{k+l}\alpha u_{0,0}u_{1,0}(u_{0,0} + u_{1,0})^{-1}, \\ F_4 = -(-1)^{k+l}\left(2\ln(u_{0,0} + u_{0,1}) - \ln(\beta)\right), \\ G_4 = (-1)^{k+l}\left(2\ln(u_{0,0} + u_{1,0}) - \ln(\alpha)\right), \end{aligned}$

 $A1_{\delta=1}$

$$\begin{split} F_1 &= -(-1)^{k+l} \left(2\ln \left(u_{0,0} + u_{0,1} + \beta \right) - \ln(\beta) \right), \quad F_2 &= -(-1)^{k+l} \left(2\ln \left(u_{0,0} + u_{0,1} - \beta \right) - \ln(\beta) \right), \\ G_1 &= (-1)^{k+l} \left(2\ln \left(u_{0,0} + u_{1,0} + \alpha \right) - \ln(\alpha) \right), \quad G_2 &= (-1)^{k+l} \left(2\ln \left(u_{0,0} + u_{1,0} - \alpha \right) - \ln(\alpha) \right), \end{split}$$

A2

$$F_{1} = -(-1)^{k+l} \left(2\ln (u_{0,0}u_{0,1} - \beta) - \ln(\beta^{2} - 1) \right), \quad F_{2} = -(-1)^{k+l} \left(2\ln (\beta u_{0,0}u_{0,1} - 1) - \ln(\beta^{2} - 1) \right),$$

$$G_{1} = (-1)^{k+l} \left(2\ln (u_{0,0}u_{1,0} - \alpha) - \ln(\alpha^{2} - 1) \right), \quad G_{2} = (-1)^{k+l} \left(2\ln (\alpha u_{0,0}u_{1,0} - 1) - \ln(\alpha^{2} - 1) \right).$$



Figure 2.2: Form of a five-point conservation law

2.4 Five-point conservation laws for ABS equations

The simplest higher conservation laws are defined on five points. These can be arranged in various configurations, but for each of the ABS equations the one shown in Figure 2.2 gives the conservation laws in their most concise form. The functions F and G are of the form

$$F = F(k, l, u_{0,-1}, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}), \qquad G = G(k, l, u_{0,-1}, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}).$$
(2.43)

Therefore the determining equation for the five-point conservation laws is

$$F(k+1, l, u_{1,-1}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{1,1}) - F(k, l, u_{0,-1}, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}) + G(k, l+1, u_{0,0}, u_{-1,1}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}) - G(k, l, u_{0,-1}, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}) = 0.$$
(2.44)

Shifted versions of each quad-graph equation are used to eliminate $u_{-1,1}, u_{1,-1}$ and $u_{1,1}$.

The direct method yields three five-point conservation laws for H1 and H3_{$\delta=0$}. For the other equations, the complexity of the calculations has prevented us from solving the determining equation (2.44) directly when F and G are of the form (2.43). However, for each of the equations H1 and H3_{$\delta=0$}, the three five-point conservation laws can be written

CHAPTER 2. CONSERVATION LAWS

in the form

$$\begin{split} F_1 &= F(k, l, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}), & G_1 &= G(k, l, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}), \\ F_2 &= F(l, k, u_{0,-1}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}), & G_2 &= G(l, k, u_{0,-1}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}), \\ F_3 &= kF_1 + lF_2, & G_3 &= kG_1 + lG_2. \end{split}$$

This suggests that, for each of the remaining ABS equations, we should seek a five-point conservation law of the form

$$F = F(k, l, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}), \quad G = G(k, l, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}).$$
(2.45)

By substituting (2.45) into (2.11) we obtain a determining equation that is simpler than (2.44):

$$F(k+1, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{1,1}) - F(k, l, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}) + G(k, l+1, u_{-1,1}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}) - G(k, l, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}) = 0.$$
(2.46)

Shifted versions of the quad-graph equation are used to eliminate $u_{-1,1}$ and $u_{1,1}$.

By using the direct method to solve (2.46) we found one five-point conservation law for $Q1_{\delta=0,1}$, $Q3_{\delta=0}$, H2, H3_{$\delta=1$}, A1_{$\delta=0,1$}, A2. Let

$$F_1 = F_s(k, l, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}), \quad G_1 = G_s(k, l, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0})$$
(2.47)

be the solution of (2.46) for an ABS equation. All ABS equations are invariant under the transformation

$$k
ightarrow ilde{l}, \quad l
ightarrow ilde{k}.$$

Therefore each of the above equations has a second five-point conservation law,

$$F_2 = F_s(l, k, u_{0,-1}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}), \quad G_2 = G_s(l, k, u_{0,-1}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}).$$
(2.48)

For equations Q2, $Q3_{\delta=1}$ and Q4, we could not solve the simplified determining equation (2.46) directly. However, we observed that each of the other ABS equations has

CHAPTER 2. CONSERVATION LAWS

'two five-point conservation laws of the form:

$$F_{1} = -S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}\tilde{G} + f(u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}),$$

$$G_{1} = S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}\tilde{G} - a\ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}),$$

$$F_{2} = S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}\tilde{F} + a\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}),$$

$$G_{2} = -S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}\tilde{F} - f(u_{0,-1}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}).$$
(2.49)

Here f is a function and a is a constant; furthermore, \tilde{F} and \tilde{G} are components of a three-point conservation law of the same equation, of the form

$$\tilde{F} = (-1)^{k+l} \ln(\dots), \quad \tilde{G} = (-1)^{k+l} \ln(\dots).$$
 (2.50)

Table 2.1 shows that most equations from the ABS classification have a three-point conservation law of the form (2.50); the only exceptions are H1, H3_{$\delta=0$}, whose five-point conservation laws we have already found. Therefore we have sought two five-point conservation laws that can be written in the form (2.49) for each of the remaining equations Q2, Q3_{$\delta=1$} and Q4. By substituting F_1 , G_1 from (2.49) into (2.11) we obtain the determining equation for f and a. For each of Q2, Q3_{$\delta=1$} and Q4, this determining equation can be solved by the direct method.

So far we have described how to find two five-point conservation laws for all ABS equations. Our results for H1 and $H3_{\delta=0}$ suggest that other equations from the ABS classification may have a third conservation law that is related to the other two as follows:

$$F_3 = kF_1 + lF_2, \quad G_3 = kG_1 + lG_2. \tag{2.51}$$

We find that in (2.51) the two conservation laws must be written in the form

$$F_{1} = -S_{l}S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}\tilde{G} - S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}\tilde{G} + a_{1}f(u_{-1,0}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}) + a_{2},$$

$$G_{1} = (-1)^{k+l}\tilde{G} + S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}\tilde{G} - a_{3}\ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}),$$

$$F_{2} = (-1)^{k+l}\tilde{F} + S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}\tilde{F} + a_{3}\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}),$$

$$G_{2} = -S_{k}S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}\tilde{F} - S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}\tilde{F} - a_{1}f(u_{0,-1}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}) + a_{2}.$$
(2.52)

Here \tilde{F} , \tilde{G} and f are the same as in (2.49), and the constants a_i can be found by substituting (2.51) into (2.11). The terms $S_l S_k^{-1} (-1)^{k+l} \tilde{G}$ and $S_k S_l^{-1} (-1)^{k+l} \tilde{F}$ depend on

CHAPTER 2. CONSERVATION LAWS

 $u_{-1,1}, u_{1,-1}$, which do not lie on the cross (2.43); these variables can be eliminated by shifted versions of the quad-graph equation.

The results of the above are summarized in Table 2.2, in which we list the generators \bar{F}_i and \bar{G}_i of the five-point conservation laws for each of the ABS equations. The corresponding conservation laws are

$$(F_1, G_1) = (\bar{F}_1, \bar{G}_1),$$

$$(F_2, G_2) = (\bar{F}_2, \bar{G}_2),$$

$$(F_3, G_3) = (k\bar{F}_1 + l\bar{F}_2, k\bar{G}_1 + l\bar{G}_2).$$

In Table 2.2 we use F_n and G_n to denote the components of n^{th} three-point conservation law for the same equation as given in Table 2.1. For Q4 alone, we have presented the result without eliminating $u_{-1,1}, u_{1,-1}$, as this is far shorter than the result after elimination.

We have checked that all five-point conservation laws cannot be reduced to lower-order conservation laws; in other words, they are independent of those which we have found so far.

All of the three-point conservation laws apply to nonautonomous equations, for which α and β are not constants. However, each equation from the ABS classification has only one five-point conservation law whose component G does not depend upon α and one five-point conservation law for which F does not depend upon β . Consequently, if exactly one of α and β is constant then only one of the five-point conservation laws survives. If neither α nor β is constant, none of the above conservation laws hold.

Table 2.2: Generators for five-point conservation laws for equations from the ABS classification

Eq.	Generators
$\mathbf{Q}1_{\delta=0}$	$\bar{F}_1 = (-1)^{k+l} F_4 - S_k^{-1} (-1)^{k+l} G_4 + 2 \ln((u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0}) (\alpha(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}) + \beta(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,0}))),$
	$\bar{G}_1 = (-1)^{k+l}G_4 + S_k^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}G_4 - 4\ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}),$
	$\bar{F}_2 = (-1)^{k+l}F_4 + S_l^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_4 + 4\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}),$
	$\bar{G}_2 = (-1)^{k+l}G_4 - S_l^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_4 - 2\ln((u_{1,0} - u_{0,-1})(\alpha(u_{0,0} - u_{0,-1}) + \beta(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}))),$
Q1 _{δ≃1}	$\bar{F}_1 = -\ln((u_{0,1} - u_{0,0} + \beta)(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,0} - \alpha)(u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0} - \alpha + \beta)^{-1}(\alpha(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0}) + \beta(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,0}))^{-1}),$
	$\bar{G}_1 = \ln((u_{1,0} - u_{0,0} + \alpha)(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,0} - \alpha)(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-2}),$
	$\bar{F}_2 = -\ln((u_{0,0} - u_{0,-1} - \beta)(u_{0,1} - u_{0,0} + \beta)(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-2}),$
	$\bar{G}_2 = \ln((u_{0,0} - u_{0,-1} - \beta)(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0} + \alpha)(u_{1,0} - u_{0,-1} + \alpha - \beta)^{-1}(\beta(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}) + \alpha(u_{0,0} - u_{0,-1}))^{-1}),$
Q2	$\tilde{F}_1 = (-1)^{k+l}F_1 - S_k^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}G_1 + \ln((u_{-1,0}^2 + ((\alpha - \beta)^2 - u_{0,1})^2 - 2u_{-1,0}((\alpha - \beta)^2 + u_{0,1}))(\alpha u_{0,1} + (\alpha - \beta)(\alpha\beta - u_{0,0}) - \beta u_{-1,0})^2),$
	$\tilde{G}_1 = (-1)^{k+l}G_1 + S_k^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}G_1 - 4\ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}),$
	$\bar{F}_2 = (-1)^{k+l}F_1 + S_l^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_1 + 4\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}),$
	$\tilde{G}_2 = (-1)^{k+l}G_1 - S_l^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_1 - \ln((u_{0,-1}^2 + ((\alpha - \beta)^2 - u_{1,0})^2 - 2u_{0,-1}((\alpha - \beta)^2 + u_{1,0}))(\alpha u_{0,-1} + (\alpha - \beta)(\alpha \beta - u_{0,0}) - \beta u_{1,0})^2),$
$\mathbf{Q3}_{\delta=0}$	$\bar{F}_1 = -\ln\left((\alpha u_{-1,0} - u_{0,0})(\beta u_{0,1} - u_{0,0})(\beta u_{0,1} - \alpha u_{-1,0})^{-1}(\beta(1-\alpha^2)u_{0,1} + (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)u_{0,0} - \alpha(1-\beta^2)u_{-1,0})^{-1}\right),$
	$\bar{G}_1 = \ln \left((\alpha u_{1,0} - u_{0,0}) (u_{0,0} - \alpha u_{-1,0}) (u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-2} \right),$
	$\bar{F}_2 = -\ln\left((\beta u_{0,1} - u_{0,0})(\beta u_{0,-1} - u_{0,0})(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-2}\right),$
	$\bar{G}_2 = \ln\left((\alpha u_{1,0} - u_{0,0})(u_{0,0} - \beta u_{0,-1})(\alpha u_{1,0} - \beta u_{0,-1})^{-1}(\beta(1-\alpha^2)u_{0,-1} + (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)u_{0,0} - \alpha(1-\beta^2)u_{1,0})^{-1}\right),$

Continued on next page

Eq. Generators

 $\mathbf{Q3}_{\delta=1} \qquad \bar{F}_{1} = (-1)^{k+l}F_{1} - S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}G_{1} + \ln(((\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})^{2} + 4\alpha\beta(\alpha u_{0,1} - \beta u_{-1,0})(\beta u_{0,1} - \alpha u_{-1,0}))(\beta(1 - \alpha^{2})u_{0,1} + (\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})u_{0,0} - \alpha(1 - \beta^{2})u_{-1,0})^{2}), \\ \bar{G}_{1} = (-1)^{k+l}G_{1} + S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}G_{1} - 4\ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}), \\ \bar{F}_{2} = (-1)^{k+l}F_{1} + S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_{1} + 4\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}), \\ \bar{G}_{2} = (-1)^{k+l}G_{1} - S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_{1} - \ln(((\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})^{2} + 4\alpha\beta(\alpha u_{1,0} - \beta u_{0,-1})(\beta u_{1,0} - \alpha u_{0,-1}))(\beta(1 - \alpha^{2})u_{0,0} - 1 + (\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})u_{0,0} - \alpha(1 - \beta^{2})u_{1,0})^{2}), \\ \end{array}$

$$\vec{F}_1 = -S_l S_k^{-1} (-1)^{k+l} G_1 - S_k^{-1} (-1)^{k+l} G_1 +$$

 $Q4 \qquad 2\ln((\operatorname{sn}(\alpha-\beta)^2(1+K^2\operatorname{sn}(\beta)^2\operatorname{sn}(\alpha)^2)-\operatorname{sn}(\beta)^2-\operatorname{sn}(\alpha)^2)u_{0,1}u_{-1,0}+\operatorname{sn}(\alpha)\operatorname{sn}(\beta)(u_{0,1}^2+u_{-1,0}^2-\operatorname{sn}(\alpha-\beta)^2(1+K^2u_{0,1}^2u_{-1,0}^2))),$ $\bar{G}_1 = (-1)^{k+l}G_1 + S_k^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}G_1 - 4\ln(u_{1,0}-u_{-1,0}),$ $\bar{F}_2 = (-1)^{k+l}F_1 + S_l^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_1 + 4\ln(u_{0,1}-u_{0,-1}),$ $\bar{G}_2 = -S_kS_l^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_1 - S_l^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_1 -$

 $2\ln((\operatorname{sn}(\alpha-\beta)^2(1+K^2\operatorname{sn}(\beta)^2\operatorname{sn}(\alpha)^2)-\operatorname{sn}(\beta)^2-\operatorname{sn}(\alpha)^2)u_{1,0}u_{0,-1}+\operatorname{sn}(\alpha)\operatorname{sn}(\beta)(u_{1,0}^2+u_{0,-1}^2-\operatorname{sn}(\alpha-\beta)^2(1+K^2u_{1,0}^2u_{0,-1}^2))),$

H1

$$\bar{F}_1 = -\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0}), \quad \bar{F}_2 = -\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}),$$

 $\bar{G}_1 = \ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}), \quad \bar{G}_2 = \ln(u_{1,0} - u_{0,-1}),$

H2

$$\bar{F}_{1} = (-1)^{k+l}F_{2} - S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}G_{2} + \ln((\beta - \alpha - u_{0,1} + u_{-1,0})(\beta - \alpha + u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0})^{3}),$$

$$\bar{G}_{1} = (-1)^{k+l}G_{2} + S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}G_{2} - 4\ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}),$$

$$\bar{F}_{2} = (-1)^{k+l}F_{2} + S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_{2} + 4\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}),$$

$$\bar{G}_{2} = (-1)^{k+l}G_{2} - S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_{2} - \ln((\alpha - \beta - u_{1,0} + u_{0,-1})(\alpha - \beta + u_{1,0} - u_{0,-1})^{3}),$$

 $\mathbf{H3}_{\delta=0} \qquad \qquad \bar{F}_1 = -\ln\left((\alpha u_{0,1} - \beta u_{-1,0})u_{0,0}^{-1}\right), \quad \bar{F}_2 = -\ln\left((u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})u_{0,0}^{-1}\right), \\ \bar{G}_1 = \ln\left((u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})u_{0,0}^{-1}\right), \qquad \bar{G}_2 = \ln\left((\beta u_{1,0} - \alpha u_{0,-1})u_{0,0}^{-1}\right),$

Continued on next page

Eq. Generators

.

H3_{δ=1}

$$\bar{F}_1 = (-1)^{k+l}F_1 - S_k^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}G_1 + \ln((\beta u_{0,1} - \alpha u_{-1,0})(\alpha u_{0,1} - \beta u_{-1,0})^3),$$

 $\bar{G}_1 = (-1)^{k+l}G_1 + S_k^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}G_1 - 4\ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}),$
 $\bar{F}_2 = (-1)^{k+l}F_1 + S_l^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_1 + 4\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}),$
 $\bar{G}_2 = (-1)^{k+l}G_1 - S_l^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}F_1 - \ln((\alpha u_{1,0} - \beta u_{0,-1})(\beta u_{1,0} - \alpha u_{0,-1})^3),$

$$\begin{split} \bar{F}_1 &= (-1)^{k+l} F_4 - S_k^{-1} (-1)^{k+l} G_4 + 2 \ln((u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0}) (\alpha(u_{0,1} + u_{0,0}) - \beta(u_{0,0} + u_{-1,0}))), \\ \bar{G}_1 &= (-1)^{k+l} G_4 + S_k^{-1} (-1)^{k+l} G_4 - 4 \ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}), \\ \bar{F}_2 &= (-1)^{k+l} F_4 + S_l^{-1} (-1)^{k+l} F_4 + 4 \ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}), \\ \bar{G}_2 &= (-1)^{k+l} G_4 - S_l^{-1} (-1)^{k+l} F_4 - 2 \ln((u_{1,0} - u_{0,-1}) (\beta(u_{1,0} + u_{0,0}) - \alpha(u_{0,0} + u_{0,-1}))), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \bar{F}_{1} &= (-1)^{k+l}(F_{1}+F_{2}) - S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}(G_{1}+G_{2}) + 2\ln(((\alpha-\beta)^{2}-(u_{0,1}-u_{-1,0})^{2})(\alpha(u_{0,1}+u_{0,0})-\beta(u_{0,0}+u_{-1,0}))^{2}), \\ \bar{G}_{1} &= (-1)^{k+l}(G_{1}+G_{2}) + S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}(G_{1}+G_{2}) - 8\ln(u_{1,0}-u_{-1,0}), \\ \bar{F}_{2} &= (-1)^{k+l}(F_{1}+F_{2}) + S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}(F_{1}+F_{2}) + 8\ln(u_{0,1}-u_{0,-1}), \\ \bar{G}_{2} &= (-1)^{k+l}(G_{1}+G_{2}) - S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}(F_{1}+F_{2}) - 2\ln(((\alpha-\beta)^{2}-(u_{1,0}-u_{0,-1})^{2})(\beta(u_{1,0}+u_{0,0})-\alpha(u_{0,0}+u_{0,-1}))^{2}), \end{split}$$

.

A2

$$\bar{F}_{1} = (-1)^{k+l}(F_{1} + F_{2}) - S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}(G_{1} + G_{2}) + 2\ln((\alpha u_{0,1} - \beta u_{-1,0})(\beta u_{0,1} - \alpha u_{-1,0})(\alpha (1 - \beta^{2})u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0}(\beta (1 - \alpha^{2}) + (\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2})u_{0,0}u_{0,1}))^{2}), \\
\bar{G}_{1} = (-1)^{k+l}(G_{1} + G_{2}) + S_{k}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}(G_{1} + G_{2}) - 8\ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}), \\
\bar{F}_{2} = (-1)^{k+l}(F_{1} + F_{2}) + S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}(F_{1} + F_{2}) + 8\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}), \\
\bar{G}_{2} = (-1)^{k+l}(G_{1} + G_{2}) - S_{l}^{-1}(-1)^{k+l}(F_{1} + F_{2}) - 2\ln((\beta u_{1,0} - \alpha u_{0,-1})(\alpha u_{1,0} - \beta u_{0,-1})(\beta (1 - \alpha^{2})u_{1,0} - u_{0,-1}(\alpha (1 - \beta^{2}) + (\beta^{2} - \alpha^{2})u_{0,0}u_{1,0}))^{2}),$$

.

44

.

Chapter 3

Symmetries

3.1 Symmetries of quad-graph equations

The general form of the ABS equations on the quad-graph is

$$P(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}, \alpha_k, \beta_l) = 0.$$
(3.1)

The transformation

$$\Gamma: \ (k,l,u_{0,0},u_{1,0},u_{0,1},u_{1,1},\alpha_k,\beta_l) \mapsto (k,l,\hat{u}_{0,0},\hat{u}_{1,0},\hat{u}_{0,1},\hat{u}_{1,1},\hat{\alpha}_k,\beta_l)$$

is a symmetry for (3.1) if

$$P(k, l, \hat{u}_{0,0}, \hat{u}_{1,0}, \hat{u}_{0,1}, \hat{u}_{1,1}, \hat{\alpha}_k, \hat{\beta}_l) = 0, \qquad (3.2)$$

whenever (3.1) holds. Lie symmetries are obtained by linearizing the symmetry condition about the identity, as follows. We seek one-parameter (local) Lie groups of symmetries of the form

$$\hat{u}_{0,0} = u_{0,0} + \epsilon \eta + O(\epsilon^2),$$

$$\hat{\alpha}_k = \alpha_k + \epsilon \xi_1(k, \alpha_k) + O(\epsilon^2),$$

$$\hat{\beta}_l = \beta_l + \epsilon \xi_2(l, \beta_l) + O(\epsilon^2).$$
(3.3)

The functions η, ξ_1 and ξ_2 are components of the characteristic **Q** of the one-parameter group. The function η depends on finitely many shifts of $u_{0,0}$; this is discussed in the next

CHAPTER 3. SYMMETRIES

section. By shifting (3.3) in the k and l directions we obtain

$$\begin{split} \hat{u}_{i,j} &= u_{i,j} + \epsilon S_k^i S_l^j \eta + O(\epsilon^2), \\ \hat{\alpha}_{k+i} &= \alpha_{k+i} + \epsilon \xi_1 (k+i, \alpha_{k+i}) + O(\epsilon^2), \\ \hat{\beta}_{l+j} &= \beta_{l+j} + \epsilon \xi_2 (l+j, \beta_{l+j}) + O(\epsilon^2), \end{split}$$

for every $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}$. Expanding (3.2) to first order in ϵ yields the linearized symmetry condition

$$XP = 0$$
 whenever (3.1) holds,

where

$$X = \eta \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{0,0}} + (S_k \eta) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{1,0}} + (S_l \eta) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{0,1}} + (S_k S_l \eta) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{1,1}} + \xi_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_k} + \xi_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial \beta_l}.$$
 (3.4)

3.2 The method

If we were to seek only Lie point symmetries, then η would be of the form

$$\eta = \eta(k, l, u_{0,0}, \alpha_k, \beta_l).$$

However, we shall consider higher symmetries that depend upon the values of the dependent variable on a 3×3 square that is centred on (k, l). By using the quad-graph equation to eliminate the corner nodes (Figure 3.1), we simplify η to the following form:

$$\eta = \eta(k, l, u_{-1,0}, u_{0,-1}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}, \alpha_k, \beta_l).$$
(3.5)

As η depends on five values of the dependent variable, we call such symmetries *five-point* symmetries.

In fact η can be simplified still further. To show this, we apply a symmetry generator (3.4) to (3.1) and obtain the linearized symmetry condition:

$$\eta P_{u_{0,0}} + S_k \eta P_{u_{1,0}} + S_l \eta P_{u_{0,1}} + S_k S_l \eta P_{u_{1,1}} + \xi_1 P_{\alpha_k} + \xi_2 P_{\beta_l} = 0.$$
(3.6)

This expression has to be satisfied by all solutions of (3.1). Let

 $\bar{u}_{0,0}(u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}), \quad \bar{u}_{1,0}(u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}), \quad \bar{u}_{0,1}(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{1,1}), \quad \bar{u}_{1,1}(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}),$



Figure 3.1: Form of a five-point symmetry

denote the result of solving (3.1) for $u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}$ and $u_{1,1}$ respectively. In the following, to save space, we suppress the dependence on k, l, α_k and β_l , and we use $\tilde{u}_{1,1}$ to denote $\bar{u}_{1,1}(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1})$. To write out the linearized symmetry condition explicitly, we substitute

$$\begin{split} &u_{-1,0} = \bar{u}_{0,0}(u_{0,0}, u_{-1,1}, u_{0,1}), \\ &u_{0,-1} = \bar{u}_{0,0}(u_{1,-1}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}), \\ &u_{2,1} = \bar{u}_{1,1}(u_{1,0}, u_{2,0}, \tilde{u}_{1,1}), \\ &u_{1,2} = \bar{u}_{1,1}(u_{0,1}, \tilde{u}_{1,1}, u_{0,2}), \\ &u_{1,1} = \tilde{u}_{1,1}, \end{split}$$

into (3.6), to obtain

 $\eta(\bar{u}_{0,0}(u_{0,0}, u_{-1,1}, u_{0,1}), \bar{u}_{0,0}(u_{1,-1}, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}), u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1})P_{u_{0,0}} + \eta(u_{0,0}, u_{1,-1}, u_{1,0}, u_{2,0}, \tilde{u}_{1,1})P_{u_{1,0}} + \eta(u_{-1,1}, u_{0,0}, u_{0,1}, \tilde{u}_{1,1}, u_{0,2})P_{u_{0,1}} + \eta(u_{0,1}, u_{1,0}, \tilde{u}_{1,1}, \tilde{u}_{1,1}(u_{1,0}, u_{2,0}, \tilde{u}_{1,1}), \tilde{u}_{1,1}(u_{0,1}, \tilde{u}_{1,1}, u_{0,2}))P_{u_{1,1}} + \xi_1 P_{\alpha_k} + \xi_2 P_{\beta_l} = 0.$ (3.7)

By differentiating (3.7) with respect to $u_{-1,1}$ and $u_{1,-1}$, we obtain the necessary condition

$$P_{u_{0,0}}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial u_{-1,1}\partial u_{1,-1}}\eta(\bar{u}_{0,0}(u_{0,0},u_{-1,1},u_{0,1}),\bar{u}_{0,0}(u_{1,-1},u_{0,0},u_{1,0}),u_{0,0},u_{1,0},u_{0,1})=0.$$
(3.8)

The coefficient of η is nonzero, so the solution of (3.8) shows that η can be split into the sum of two functions which have a simpler form than (3.5). New conditions for η can

CHAPTER 3. SYMMETRIES

be obtained, for instance, by differentiating (3.7) with respect to $u_{-1,0}$ and $u_{0,-1}$. Taken together, all such conditions give a system of PDE's with the following solution

$$\begin{split} \eta_{cross}(k,l,u_{-1,0},u_{0,-1},u_{0,0},u_{1,0},u_{0,1},\alpha_k,\beta_l) = \\ \eta_k(k,l,u_{-1,0},u_{0,0},u_{1,0},\alpha_k,\beta_l) + \eta_l(k,l,u_{0,-1},u_{0,0},u_{0,1},\alpha_k,\beta_l), \end{split}$$

where η_k and η_l are functions which have to be found. Therefore we have demonstrated that η is of the form η_{cross} , which is the sum of the terms in the k and l direction separately. Similarly it is possible to show that for any higher-order symmetry generator, if η is simplified to depend only on values on a cross, it consists of two separate terms in the k and l direction respectively.

We now explain the method for calculating the characteristics \mathbf{Q} for a given quadgraph equation. By substituting η_{cross} into (3.7) we obtain the following determining equation for η_k , η_l , ξ_1 and ξ_2 (again, we suppress k, l, α_k, β_l for brevity).

$$\begin{aligned} (\eta_{k}(\bar{u}_{0,0}(u_{0,0},u_{-1,1},u_{0,1}),u_{0,0},u_{1,0}) + \eta_{l}(\bar{u}_{0,0}(u_{1,-1},u_{0,0},u_{1,0}),u_{0,0},u_{0,1}))P_{u_{0,0}} \\ &+ (\eta_{k}(u_{0,0},u_{1,0},u_{2,0}) + \eta_{l}(u_{1,-1},u_{1,0},\bar{u}_{1,1}))P_{u_{1,0}} \\ &+ (\eta_{k}(u_{-1,1},u_{0,1},\bar{u}_{1,1}) + \eta_{l}(u_{0,0},u_{0,1},u_{0,2})P_{u_{0,1}} + (\eta_{k}(u_{0,1},\bar{u}_{1,1},\bar{u}_{1,1}(u_{1,0},u_{2,0},\bar{u}_{1,1})) \\ &+ \eta_{l}(u_{1,0},\bar{u}_{1,1},\bar{u}_{1,1}(u_{0,1},\bar{u}_{1,1},u_{0,2})))P_{u_{1,1}} + \xi_{1}P_{\alpha_{k}} + \xi_{2}P_{\beta_{l}} = 0. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.9)$$

To solve this functional equation we use an idea which is described in Section 2.1, namely we reduce it to a PDE. By differentiating (3.9) with respect to $u_{2,0}$ we obtain

$$P_{u_{1,0}}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_{2,0}}\eta_k(u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{2,0}) + P_{u_{1,1}}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_{2,0}}\eta_k(u_{0,1}, \bar{u}_{1,1}, \bar{u}_{1,1}(u_{1,0}, u_{2,0}, \bar{u}_{1,1})) = 0.$$
(3.10)

This is a functional-differential equation, but it contains fewer sets of arguments than (3.9) does. The first term can be eliminated by dividing by $P_{u_{1,0}}$ and then differentiating with respect to $u_{0,1}$, to obtain

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial u_{0,1}}\left(\frac{P_{u_{1,1}}}{P_{u_{1,0}}}\frac{\partial}{\partial u_{2,0}}\eta_k(u_{0,1},\bar{u}_{1,1},\bar{u}_{1,1}(u_{1,0},u_{2,0},\bar{u}_{1,1}))\right)=0.$$

After making the substitution

$$u_{0,0} = \bar{u}_{0,0}, \quad u_{2,0} = S_k \bar{u}_{1,0},$$

we get a PDE for the function η_k and solve it. The constraints for the function η_l can be found in a similar way.

So far, we have differentiated the determining equations (3.9) twice; this has created a hierarchy of functional-differential equations that every five-point symmetry must satisfy. The unknown functions η_k , η_l , ξ_1 and ξ_2 can be found completely by going up the hierarchy, a step at a time, to determine more constraints. As the constraints are solved sequentially, more and more information is gained about the functions. At the highest stage, the determining equation is satisfied.

3.3 Five-point symmetries of integrable equations on the quad-graph

In this section we present all five-point symmetries for integrable equations on the quadgraph that are listed in [5]; these were found by the method described in the previous section.

All five-point symmetries for these equation are listed in Table 3.1. In these tables $\operatorname{cn}(\alpha) = \operatorname{cn}(\alpha; K)$ and $\operatorname{dn}(\alpha) = \operatorname{dn}(\alpha; K)$ are Jacobi elliptic functions with modulus K. In [15] it was shown that when K = 0, equation Q4 is equivalent to the case $\operatorname{Q3}_{\delta=1}$. When K = 0, all symmetries for equation Q4 are equivalent to the symmetries for equation $\operatorname{Q3}_{\delta=1}$. We omit the details of our calculations, which were carried out using the computer algebra system MAPLE [74](see Appendix A.2); they are very massive and it is impossible to present them in any suitable form. Five-point symmetries for H1, H3_{$\delta=0$} and Q1_{$\delta=0$} have already appeared in [26, 46, 47, 48, 50, 52, 53, 60, 72, 73].

Note that each equation from the ABS classification has two nonpoint symmetries in the k direction and two nonpoint symmetries in the l direction. In each case, one of these symmetries in the k direction depends explicitly on k; in the next section, we denote this symmetry by X_{km} . The other symmetry in the k direction does not depend on k; we will denote it by X_k . Similarly, we will denote the nonpoint symmetries in the l direction by X_{lm} and X_l .

CHAPTER 3. SYMMETRIES

So far we have seen symmetries only for autonomous equations, for which α and β are constants. The same point symmetries occur even when α and β are not constant. However, there are no other five-point symmetries in the k (respectively l) direction if α (respectively β) is not constant.

Table 3.1: Symmetry generators for equations from the ABS classification

.

.

.

Continued on next page

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Q3}_{\delta=0} & X_1 = u_{0,0}\partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_2 = \{(1+\alpha^2)u_{0,0}(u_{1,0}+u_{-1,0}) - 2\alpha((u_{0,0})^2 + u_{1,0}u_{-1,0})\}(u_{1,0}-u_{-1,0})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}}, \\ & X_3 = \{(1+\beta^2)u_{0,0}(u_{0,1}+u_{0,-1}) - 2\beta((u_{0,0})^2 + u_{0,1}u_{0,-1})\}(u_{0,1}-u_{0,-1})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}}, \\ & X_4 = k\{(1+\alpha^2)u_{0,0}(u_{1,0}+u_{-1,0}) - 2\alpha((u_{0,0})^2 + u_{1,0}u_{-1,0})\}(u_{1,0}-u_{-1,0})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}} + \alpha(\alpha^2 - 1)\partial_{\alpha}, \\ & X_5 = l\{(1+\beta^2)u_{0,0}(u_{0,1}+u_{0,-1}) - 2\beta((u_{0,0})^2 + u_{0,1}u_{0,-1})\}(u_{0,1}-u_{0,-1})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}} + \beta(\beta^2 - 1)\partial_{\beta}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Q3}_{\delta=1} & X_1 = \{2\alpha(1+\alpha^2)u_{0,0}(u_{1,0}+u_{-1,0}) - 4\alpha^2(u_{1,0}u_{-1,0} + (u_{0,0})^2) - (1-\alpha^2)^2\}(u_{1,0}-u_{-1,0})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}}, \\ & X_2 = \{2\beta(1+\beta^2)u_{0,0}(u_{0,1}+u_{0,-1}) - 4\beta^2(u_{0,1}u_{0,-1} + (u_{0,0})^2) - (1-\alpha^2)^2\}(u_{1,0}-u_{-1,0})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}} + 2\alpha^2(\alpha^2 - 1)\partial_{\alpha}, \\ & X_3 = k\{2\alpha(1+\alpha^2)u_{0,0}(u_{1,0}+u_{-1,0}) - 4\alpha^2(u_{1,0}u_{-1,0} + (u_{0,0})^2) - (1-\alpha^2)^2\}(u_{1,0}-u_{-1,0})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}} + 2\alpha^2(\alpha^2 - 1)\partial_{\alpha}, \\ & X_4 = l\{2\beta(1+\beta^2)u_{0,0}(u_{0,1}+u_{0,-1}) - 4\beta^2(u_{0,1}u_{0,-1} + (u_{0,0})^2) - (1-\beta^2)^2\}(u_{0,1}-u_{0,-1})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}} + 2\beta^2(\beta^2 - 1)\partial_{\beta}, \end{aligned}$$

Equations Generators

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{Q4} \qquad X_{1} &= \{ \mathrm{cn}(\alpha) \mathrm{dn}(\alpha) u_{0,0}(u_{1,0} + u_{-1,0}) + \mathrm{sn}^{2}(\alpha) (1 + K^{2} u_{-1,0}(u_{0,0})^{2} u_{1,0}) - u_{-1,0} u_{1,0} - (u_{0,0})^{2} \} (u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \\ X_{2} &= \{ \mathrm{cn}(\beta) \mathrm{dn}(\beta) u_{0,0}(u_{0,1} + u_{0,-1}) + \mathrm{sn}^{2}(\beta) (1 + K^{2} u_{0,-1}(u_{0,0})^{2} u_{0,1}) - u_{0,-1} u_{0,1} - (u_{0,0})^{2} \} (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \\ X_{3} &= k \{ \mathrm{cn}(\alpha) \mathrm{dn}(\alpha) u_{0,0}(u_{1,0} + u_{-1,0}) + \mathrm{sn}^{2}(\alpha) (1 + K^{2} u_{-1,0}(u_{0,0})^{2} u_{1,0}) - u_{-1,0} u_{1,0} - (u_{0,0})^{2} \} (u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + \mathrm{sn}(\alpha) \partial_{\alpha}, \\ X_{4} &= l \{ \mathrm{cn}(\beta) \mathrm{dn}(\beta) u_{0,0}(u_{0,1} + u_{0,-1}) + \mathrm{sn}^{2}(\beta) (1 + K^{2} u_{0,-1}(u_{0,0})^{2} u_{0,1}) - u_{0,-1} u_{0,1} - (u_{0,0})^{2} \} (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + \mathrm{sn}(\beta) \partial_{\beta}, \\ \mathrm{when} \ K &= \pm 1 \quad X_{5} = \{ 1 - (u_{0,0})^{2} \} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \end{aligned}$$

Continued on next page

H1
$$X_{1} = \partial_{\alpha} + \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{2} = \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{3} = (-1)^{k+l} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{4} = u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + 2\alpha \partial_{\alpha} + 2\beta \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{5} = (-1)^{k+l} u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{6} = (u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{7} = (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{8} = k(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\alpha}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{6} = (u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{7} = (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{8} = k(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\alpha}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{8} = k(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\alpha}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{9} = l(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0$$

H2

$$X_{1} = \partial_{u_{0,0}} - 2\partial_{\alpha} - 2\partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{2} = (-1)^{k+l} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{3} = u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + \alpha \partial_{\alpha} + \beta \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_{4} = (u_{1,0} + u_{-1,0} + 2u_{0,0} + 2\alpha)(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{5} = (u_{0,1} + u_{0,-1} + 2u_{0,0} + 2\beta)(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{6} = k (u_{1,0} + u_{-1,0} + 2u_{0,0} + 2\alpha)(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\alpha}, \quad X_{7} = l (u_{0,1} + u_{0,-1} + 2u_{0,0} + 2\beta)(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\beta},$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{H3}_{\delta=0} \qquad X_1 &= \alpha \partial_{\alpha} + \beta \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_2 = u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_3 = (-1)^{k+l} u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_4 = u_{0,0} (u_{1,0} + u_{-1,0}) (u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \\ X_5 &= u_{0,0} (u_{0,1} + u_{0,-1}) (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_6 = k u_{0,0} (u_{1,0} + u_{-1,0}) (u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + \alpha \partial_{\alpha}, \\ X_7 &= l u_{0,0} (u_{0,1} + u_{0,-1}) (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + \beta \partial_{\beta}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{H3}_{\delta=1} \qquad X_1 &= u_{0,0}\partial_{u_{0,0}} + 2\alpha\partial_{\alpha} + 2\beta\partial_{\beta}, \quad X_2 = (-1)^{k+l}u_{0,0}\partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_3 = (2\alpha + u_{0,0}u_{1,0} + u_{0,0}u_{-1,0})(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}}, \\ X_4 &= (2\beta + u_{0,0}u_{0,1} + u_{0,0}u_{0,-1})(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_5 = k(2\alpha + u_{0,0}u_{1,0} + u_{0,0}u_{-1,0})(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}} + \alpha\partial_{\alpha}, \\ X_6 &= l(2\beta + u_{0,0}u_{0,1} + u_{0,0}u_{0,-1})(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1}\partial_{u_{0,0}} + \beta\partial_{\beta}, \end{aligned}$$

Continued on next page

CHA

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{A1}_{\delta=0} & X_1 = \alpha \partial_{\alpha} + \beta \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_2 = (-1)^{k+l} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_3 = u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_4 = (-1)^{k+l} (u_{0,0})^2 \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \\ & X_5 = (u_{0,0} + u_{1,0}) (u_{0,0} + u_{-1,0}) (u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_6 = (u_{0,0} + u_{0,1}) (u_{0,0} + u_{0,-1}) (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \\ & X_7 = k (u_{0,0} + u_{1,0}) (u_{0,0} + u_{-1,0}) (u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + \alpha \partial_{\alpha}, \quad X_8 = l (u_{0,0} + u_{0,1}) (u_{0,0} + u_{0,-1}) (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + \beta \partial_{\beta}, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{A1}_{\delta=1} & X_1 = (-1)^{k+l} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_2 = u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + \alpha \partial_{\alpha} + \beta \partial_{\beta}, \quad X_3 = \{\alpha^2 - (u_{0,0} + u_{1,0})(u_{0,0} + u_{-1,0})\}(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \\ & X_4 = \{\beta^2 - (u_{0,0} + u_{0,1})(u_{0,0} + u_{0,-1})\}(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_5 = k\{\alpha^2 - (u_{0,0} + u_{1,0})(u_{0,0} + u_{-1,0})\}(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \alpha \partial_{\alpha}, \\ & X_6 = l\{\beta^2 - (u_{0,0} + u_{0,1})(u_{0,0} + u_{0,-1})\}(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \beta \partial_{\beta}, \end{aligned}$$

A2

$$X_{1} = (-1)^{k+l} u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{2} = \{(1+\alpha^{2}) u_{0,0}(u_{1,0}+u_{-1,0}) - 2\alpha(1+(u_{0,0})^{2}u_{1,0}u_{-1,0})\}(u_{1,0}-u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}},$$

$$X_{3} = \{(1+\beta^{2}) u_{0,0}(u_{0,1}+u_{0,-1}) - 2\beta(1+(u_{0,0})^{2}u_{0,1}u_{0,-1})\}(u_{0,1}-u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}},$$

$$X_{4} = k\{(1+\alpha^{2}) u_{0,0}(u_{1,0}+u_{-1,0}) - 2\alpha(1+(u_{0,0})^{2}u_{1,0}u_{-1,0})\}(u_{1,0}-u_{-1,0})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + \alpha(1-\alpha^{2})\partial_{\alpha},$$

$$X_{5} = l\{(1+\beta^{2}) u_{0,0}(u_{0,1}+u_{0,-1}) - 2\beta(1+(u_{0,0})^{2}u_{0,1}u_{0,-1})\}(u_{0,1}-u_{0,-1})^{-1} \partial_{u_{0,0}} + \beta(1-\beta^{2})\partial_{\beta}.$$

Equations Generators

CHAPTER 3. SYMMETRIES

3.4 Mastersymmetries

Definition 1. A mastersymmetry for a symmetry generator X is a symmetry generator X_m such that

$$[X_m, X], [X_m, [X_m, X]], \dots$$

is an infinite set of linearly independent symmetry generators.

For continuous integrable systems, Fuchssteiner [24, 55, 56] has explained the link between mastersymmetries and symmetries that are linear in the independent variables. Furthermore, [73] showed that the dKdV equation also has mastersymmetries that are linear in the independent variables. For each of the ABS equations with constant α and β , the generators X_{km} and X_{lm} have this property, which suggests that they may be mastersymmetries. An algebraic approach to mastersymmetries gives the following criterion [23, 64, 70].

Theorem 3.1. A symmetry X_m is a mastersymmetry for the symmetry X if it satisfies

$$[X_m, X] \neq 0, \qquad [[X_m, X], X] = 0.$$
 (3.11)

Here $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denotes the commutator.

By checking these properties for all symmetries from Table 3.1 we find that X_{km} is a mastersymmetry for X_k and X_{lm} is a mastersymmetry for X_l for each equation in the ABS classification. Therefore we can obtain a hierarchy of symmetries in the k direction:

$$X_{k_1} = [X_{km}, X_k], \quad X_{k_2} = [X_{km}, X_{k_1}], \quad \dots, \quad X_{k_{n+1}} = [X_{km}, X_{k_n}].$$

Similarly, there is a hierarchy of symmetries in the l direction:

$$X_{l_1} = [X_{lm}, X_l], \quad X_{l_2} = [X_{lm}, X_{l_1}], \quad \dots, \quad X_{l_{n+1}} = [X_{lm}, X_{l_n}].$$

As an example, consider the autonomous equation $\mathbf{Q1}_{\delta=0}$. The commutator of symmetries X_7 and X_5 gives us a new symmetry:

$$X_9 = \frac{(u_{1,0} - u_{0,0})^2 (u_{0,0} - u_{-1,0})^2}{(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})^2} \left(\frac{1}{u_{2,0} - u_{0,0}} + \frac{1}{u_{0,0} - u_{-2,0}}\right) \partial_{u_{0,0}}.$$
 (3.12)

CHAPTER 3. SYMMETRIES

This symmetry cannot be reduced to any lower-order symmetry, for its characteristic depends on $u_{2,0}, u_{-2,0}$. The symmetry (3.12) lies on a line of five points; if we apply the mastersymmetry a second time we will obtain an expression which lies on a seven-point line, and so on. The same situation occurs for each of the ABS equations, namely the order of a symmetry increases by two each time one applies a mastersymmetry, creating hierarchies with the following dependencies:

$$X_{k_n} = \eta_{k_n}(u_{-n,0}, u_{-n+1,0}, ..., u_{n-1,0}, u_{n,0})\partial_{u_{0,0}},$$

$$X_{l_n} = \eta_{l_n}(u_{0,-n}, u_{0,-n+1}, ..., u_{0,n-1}, u_{0,n})\partial_{u_{0,0}}.$$

Chapter 4

Toda type equations

In this chapter we compute conservation laws and symmetries for an example of the Toda type system that corresponds to the autonomous equations H1 and $Q1_{\delta=0}$:

$$\frac{1}{u_{1,1}-u_{0,0}}-\frac{1}{u_{-1,1}-u_{0,0}}-\frac{1}{u_{1,-1}-u_{0,0}}+\frac{1}{u_{-1,-1}-u_{0,0}}=0.$$
 (4.1)

This equation is the so-called missing identity of Frobenius [25, 76].

4.1 Symmetries of Toda type equations

We can use the connection between integrable quad-graph equations and Toda type systems to transform symmetries of quad-graph equations into symmetries of the corresponding Toda type systems. A Toda system can be obtained from any equation in the ABS classification

$$P(k, l, u_{0,0}, u_{1,0}, u_{0,1}, u_{1,1}, \alpha, \beta) = 0$$
(4.2)

by the substitution

$$u_{0,1} = S_k^{-1} \tilde{u}_{1,1}, \quad u_{1,0} = S_l^{-1} \tilde{u}_{1,1}, \quad u_{-1,0} = \bar{u}_{0,1} (u_{-1,-1}, u_{0,-1}, u_{0,0}). \tag{4.3}$$

Here, we are using the notation introduced in §3.2. Note: it is necessary to make the substitution $u_{-1,0} = \bar{u}_{0,1}(u_{-1,-1}, u_{0,-1}, u_{0,0})$ after the substitution $u_{0,1} = S_k^{-1}\tilde{u}_{1,1}$ because equation (4.2) does not depend on $u_{-1,0}$.

We have verified that each of listed symmetries for the ABS classification can be transformed to a symmetry for the corresponding Toda type system by the substitution (4.3).

The characteristics of symmetries for (4.1) can be obtained by transformation of the characteristics of the symmetries for H1 and $Q1_{\delta=0}$ by (4.3). Note that for H1 and $Q1_{\delta=0}$ the substitutions (4.3) are different.

The point symmetries stay the same after substitution (4.3) for both H1 and $Q1_{\delta=0}$; they are

$$X_{1} = \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{2} = (-1)^{k+l} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{3} = u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}},$$

$$X_{4} = (-1)^{k+l} u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{5} = u_{0,0}^{2} \partial_{u_{0,0}}.$$
(4.4)

(We have omitted the components ξ_1 and ξ_2 , because (4.1) does not depend on α or β .) The commutators of (4.4) yield one more symmetry generator:

$$X_6 = (-1)^{k+l} u_{0,0}{}^2 \partial_{u_{0,0}}$$

The rescaled remaining five-point symmetries of H1 transform by (4.3) to

$$X_{7} = \frac{(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{1,-1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{1,-1} - u_{-1,-1}} \partial_{u_{0,0}},$$

$$X_{8} = \frac{(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{-1,1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{-1,1} - u_{-1,-1}} \partial_{u_{0,0}},$$

$$X_{9} = \frac{k(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{1,-1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{1,-1} - u_{-1,-1}} \partial_{u_{0,0}},$$

$$X_{10} = \frac{l(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{-1,1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{-1,1} - u_{-1,-1}} \partial_{u_{0,0}}.$$

The same result is obtained from the symmetries for $\mathbf{Q1}_{\delta=0}$. All these symmetries were found in the previous chapter. The Toda system (4.1) also has mastersymmetries. As expected, X_9 is the mastersymmetry for X_7 and X_{10} is the mastersymmetry for X_8 . Two hierarchies of the local symmetries therefore can be constructed.

In the same way, each Toda system for the other quad-graph equations has mastersymmetries that can be obtained from the mastersymmetries of the corresponding quad-graph equations.

Note that the five-point symmetries for (4.1) lie on the same five-point cross on which the Toda system is defined (Figure 4.1), not on the one which is in Figure 3.1.



Figure 4.1: Five-point symmetries for (4.1)

4.2 Conservation laws of Toda type equations

The connection between integrable quad-graph equations and Toda type systems is described in the Introduction. It follows that a conservation law for a quad-graph equation is a conservation law for the corresponding Toda type system.

Some of the conservation laws for (4.1) are

•
$$F_1 = -(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})(u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1}(u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1},$$

 $G_1 = (u_{0,0} + u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})^{-1}(u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1},$

- $F_2 = (-1)^{k+l} (u_{0,1} u_{0,-1}) (u_{0,1} u_{-1,0})^{-1} (u_{0,-1} u_{-1,0})^{-1},$ $G_2 = (-1)^{k+l} (u_{0,0} + u_{-1,0} - u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,-1}) (u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})^{-1} (u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1},$
- $F_3 = -u_{-1,0}(u_{0,1} u_{0,-1})(u_{0,1} u_{-1,0})^{-1}(u_{0,-1} u_{-1,0})^{-1},$ $G_3 = (u_{0,0}u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0}u_{-1,-1})(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})^{-1}(u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1},$

•
$$F_4 = -(-1)^{k+l} u_{-1,0} (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}) (u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} (u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1}$$
,
 $G_4 = (-1)^{k+l} (u_{0,0} u_{-1,0} - u_{0,-1} u_{-1,-1}) (u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})^{-1} (u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1}$

• $F_5 = -u_{-1,0}^2 (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}) (u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} (u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1}$, $G_5 = \frac{u_{0,0} u_{0,-1} u_{-1,0} - u_{0,0} u_{-1,0} u_{-1,-1} + u_{0,0} u_{0,-1} u_{-1,-1} - u_{0,-1} u_{-1,0} u_{-1,-1}}{(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1}) (u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0})}$,

•
$$F_6 = -(-1)^{k+l} u_{-1,0}^2 (u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}) (u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1} (u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0})^{-1},$$

 $G_6 = \frac{(-1)^{k+l} (u_{0,0} u_{0,-1} u_{-1,0} + u_{0,0} u_{-1,0} u_{-1,-1} - u_{0,0} u_{0,-1} u_{-1,-1} - u_{0,-1} u_{-1,0} u_{-1,-1})}{(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1}) (u_{0,-1} - u_{-1,0})},$

•
$$F_7 = -2\ln(u_{-1,1} - u_{0,0}) + \ln(u_{-1,1} - u_{-1,-1}) + \ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1}),$$

 $G_7 = 2\ln(u_{0,0} - u_{1,-1}) - \ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}) - \ln(u_{1,-1} - u_{-1,-1}),$

59

•
$$F_8 = -(-1)^{k+l} (2\ln(u_{-1,1} - u_{0,0}) - \ln(u_{-1,1} - u_{-1,-1}) + \ln(u_{0,1} - u_{0,-1})),$$

 $G_8 = (-1)^{k+l} (2\ln(u_{0,0} - u_{1,-1}) + \ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}) - \ln(u_{1,-1} - u_{-1,-1})).$

The first six were obtained by transforming the conservation laws for H1 and $\mathbf{Q1}_{\delta=0}$. The other two were found directly. It is known that (4.1) has a variational formulation [5, 14, 15, 18] with the Lagrangian

$$L = \ln(u_{1,1} - u_{0,0}) - \ln(u_{1,-1} - u_{0,0}). \tag{4.5}$$

Noether's Theorem for difference equations [21, 37, 42, 75] produces conservation laws from variational symmetries, it is not known whether the converse is true. However we can obtain symmetries for (4.1) from the above conservation laws. If we divide each expression

$$(S_k - id)F_i + (S_l - id)G_i, \quad i = 1, 8$$
 (4.6)

by (4.1) we obtain symmetry characteristics. Symmetries which correspond to the first six conservation laws are

$$X_{1} = \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{2} = (-1)^{k+l} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{3} = u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, X_{4} = (-1)^{k+l} u_{0,0} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{5} = u_{0,0}^{2} \partial_{u_{0,0}}, \quad X_{6} = (-1)^{k+l} u_{0,0}^{2} \partial_{u_{0,0}}.$$

$$(4.7)$$

The 7^{th} and 8^{th} conservation laws have logarithmic form and it is not clear how to factor out equation (4.1). However from (4.6) we obtain

$$Q_{7} = \frac{\ln\left(\frac{(u_{-1,1}-u_{-1,-1})(u_{0,0}-u_{1,-1})^{2}(u_{1,1}-u_{-1,1})}{(u_{-1,1}-u_{0,0})^{2}(u_{1,1}-u_{1,-1})(u_{1,-1}-u_{-1,-1})}\right)}{\frac{1}{u_{1,1}-u_{0,0}} - \frac{1}{u_{-1,1}-u_{0,0}} - \frac{1}{u_{1,-1}-u_{0,0}} + \frac{1}{u_{-1,-1}-u_{0,0}}},$$
(4.8)

$$Q_8 = (-1)^{k+l} \frac{\ln\left(\frac{(u_{-1,1}-u_{-1,-1})(u_{0,0}-u_{1,-1})^2(u_{1,1}-u_{-1,1})}{(u_{-1,1}-u_{0,0})^2(u_{1,1}-u_{1,-1})(u_{1,-1}-u_{-1,-1})}\right)}{\frac{1}{u_{1,1}-u_{0,0}} - \frac{1}{u_{-1,1}-u_{0,0}} - \frac{1}{u_{1,-1}-u_{0,0}} + \frac{1}{u_{-1,-1}-u_{0,0}}}.$$
(4.9)

It is easy to check that $X_7 = Q_7 \partial_{u_{0,0}}$ and $X_8 = Q_8 \partial_{u_{0,0}}$ are variational symmetries [57] for (4.5). On solutions of (4.1) Q_7 and Q_8 are undefined expressions of the form $\{\frac{0}{0}\}$. This problem can be solved by expanding the characteristics as Taylor series and taking into account relation (4.1). So we obtain equivalent not nonvariational symmetries for (4.1):

$$\bar{X}_{7} = \left(\frac{(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{-1,1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{-1,1} - u_{-1,-1}} - \frac{(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{1,-1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{1,-1} - u_{-1,-1}}\right)\partial_{u_{0,0}},$$

$$\bar{X}_{8} = (-1)^{k+l} \left(\frac{(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{-1,1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{-1,1} - u_{-1,-1}} - \frac{(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{1,-1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{1,-1} - u_{-1,-1}}\right)\partial_{u_{0,0}}.$$

(4.10)

In the previous section we show that (4.1) has two mastersymmetries for \bar{X}_7 and therefore these are mastersymmetries for X_7 :

$$X_{m1} = \frac{k(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{1,-1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{1,-1} - u_{-1,-1}} \partial_{u_{0,0}},$$

$$X_{m2} = \frac{l(u_{0,0} - u_{-1,-1})(u_{-1,1} - u_{0,0})}{u_{-1,1} - u_{-1,-1}} \partial_{u_{0,0}}.$$

Since X_{m1} and X_{m2} depend just upon $u_{-1,-1}, u_{1,-1}, u_{-1,1}, u_{0,0}, X_{m1}$ and X_{m2} are also mastersymmetries for \bar{X}_8 . So infinite hierarchies of local symmetries can be obtained. Then we can check which are variational symmetries. If there is a variational symmetry one can construct a conservation law from it with the help of the discrete version of Noether's Theorem.

Chapter 5

Application of conservation laws and symmetries

5.1 High-order conservation laws

New conservation laws can be obtained by applying the generator of a five-point symmetry repeatedly to a known conservation law [10, 11, 57]. For instance, let us consider equation **H1**. By applying the infinitesimal generator (which is found in the previous chapter)

$$X = \frac{k}{u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}} \partial_{u_{0,0}} - \partial_{\alpha}$$

to the conservation law

$$F = -\ln(u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0}), \quad G = \ln(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}),$$

then adding a trivial conservation law, we obtain

$$F_n = -\{(u_{0,0} - u_{-2,0})(u_{0,1} - u_{-1,0})\}^{-1}, \quad G_n = \{(u_{0,0} - u_{-2,0})(u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0})\}^{-1}.$$

At present, there is no proof that this method will always yield a new conservation law (that cannot be reduced to a known or trivial one); however, we do not know of any counterexamples.

We know from the previous chapter that each equation from the ABS classification has symmetries in the k and l directions. By applying symmetries in the k direction to

where Q(k, l) is a solution of

$$Q(k+1,l) - Q(k,l+1) + A(k,l) = 0,$$

and where

$$\bar{B}(k,l) = B(k,l) + Q(k+1,l+1) - Q(k,l).$$

This simplification greatly speeds up the computations, without affecting the number of independent conservation laws that exist. When the direct method is used we find that

$$\begin{split} F &= 8 \, u_{0,0}^2 u_{0,1} \zeta(k,l) \\ &+ 4 \, u_{0,1} \left(u_{0,1} u_{0,0}^2 \nu(k,l) + 2 \, u_{0,1} u_{0,0} \xi(k,l) + 4 \, \mu(k,l) u_{0,0} - 2 \, \zeta(k,l+1) C(k,l) + 2 \, C(k,l+1) \zeta(k,l+1) \right) \\ &+ 2 \, \frac{u_{0,1} T \left(\nu(k,l) C(k,l+1) - \nu(k,l) C(k,l) + 2 \, \zeta(k,l+1) u_{0,1} + 2 \, \mu(k,l+1) - 2 \, \mu(k,l) \right)}{\zeta(k,l)} + \frac{\nu(k,l) u_{0,1}^2 T^2}{\zeta(k,l)^2} \,, \end{split}$$

$$G = -8 u_{0,0} (u_{1,0}u_{0,0} - C(k,l)) \zeta(k,l) - 4 u_{1,0} (2 \zeta(k,l+1)C(k,l) + 4 \mu(k,l)u_{0,0} + u_{1,0}\nu(k,l)u_{0,0}^2 - 2 \nu(k,l)C(k,l)u_{0,0} + 2 u_{1,0}\xi(k,l)u_{0,0}) - 2 \frac{u_{1,0}T(\nu(k,l)C(k,l) + \nu(k,l)C(k,l+1) - 2\mu(k,l) + 2 u_{1,0}\zeta(k,l+1) + 2\mu(k,l+1))}{\zeta(k,l)} - \frac{\nu(k,l)u_{1,0}^2T^2}{\zeta(k,l)^2},$$

where $T = \nu(k, l)C(k, l) - \nu(k, l)C(k, l+1) - 2\mu(k, l) - 2\mu(k, l+1)$. Here $\xi(k, l), \mu(k, l), \nu(k, l)$ and $\zeta(k, l)$ are functions which satisfy the following constraints:

$$\xi(k+1,l) = -\zeta(k,l), \quad \zeta(k+1,l) = \zeta(k,l+1), \tag{5.3}$$

$$\nu(k+1,l) = -\nu(k,l), \quad \nu(k,l+1) = -\nu(k,l), \tag{5.4}$$

$$2\xi(k,l)\zeta(k,l) + 2\zeta(k,l+1)\zeta(k,l) = -4\nu(k,l)\mu(k,l) - \nu(k,l)^2 C(k,l),$$
 (5.5)

$$\bar{B}(k,l) = -\frac{4\mu(k,l) + \nu(k,l)C(k,l)}{2\zeta(k,l)}.$$
(5.6)

Note: at this stage, we have not completed the direct method calculation of the conservation laws, but the above necessary conditions lead to a substantial further simplification of the problem.

The general solution of the system (5.3), (5.4) is

$$\zeta(k,l) = H(k+l), \quad \xi(k,l) = -H(k+l-1), \quad \nu(k,l) = c_1(-1)^{k+l}, \tag{5.7}$$

a conservation law with component F in the k direction we also obtain a conservation law with component F in the k direction. In this way we might construct an infinite hierarchy of conservation laws with component F in the k direction and another hierarchy of conservation laws with component G in the l direction.

5.2 Conservation laws for generalized dKdV and dpmKdV equations

In this section, we use the existence of three-point conservation laws as an indicator for integrability for the generalized nonautonomous dKdV equation

$$(u_{1,1} - u_{0,0} + B(k,l))(u_{1,0} - u_{0,1} + A(k,l)) = C(k,l),$$

and the generalized nonautonomous dpmKdV equation

$$u_{1,1} = u_{0,0} \frac{[A(k,l) \ u_{1,0} - B(k,l)u_{0,1}]}{[u_{0,1} - C(k,l) \ u_{1,0}]}.$$

Namely, we are looking for conservation laws for the generalized nonautonomous dKdV and dpmKdV equations by the direct method, which is explained in Section 2.1. During the computation we obtain constraints on coefficients of equations which must be satisfied if nontrivial three-point conservation laws exist.

5.2.1 The generalized nonautonomous dKdV equation

The generalization of the nonautonomous dKdV equation

$$(u_{1,1} - u_{0,0} + B(k,l))(u_{1,0} - u_{0,1} + A(k,l)) = C(k,l),$$
(5.1)

where B(k, l), A(k, l) and C(k, l) are arbitrary functions, can be transformed to

$$(u_{1,1} - u_{0,0} + \bar{B}(k,l))(u_{0,1} - u_{1,0}) = C(k,l),$$
(5.2)

by the point transformation

$$u(k,l) \mapsto u(k,l) + Q(k,l),$$

where H(k+l) is an arbitrary nonzero function and c_1 is an arbitrary nonzero constant. Combining these results with (5.5), and (5.6), we obtain

$$\bar{B}(k,l) = \frac{2}{c_1}(-1)^{k+l}(H(k+l+1) - H(k+l-1)).$$

Therefore three-point conservation laws exist only if the nonautonomous dKdV equation is of the form

$$\left(u_{1,1} - u_{0,0} + \frac{2}{c_1}(-1)^{k+l}[H(k+l+1) - H(k+l-1)]\right)(u_{0,1} - u_{1,0}) = C(k,l).$$
(5.8)

This equation is mapped by the point transformation

$$u(k,l) \mapsto u(k,l) - \frac{2}{c_1}(-1)^{k+l}H(k+l-1)$$

to

$$(u_{1,1} - u_{0,0})(u_{0,1} - u_{1,0}) = C(k,l).$$
(5.9)

Therefore it is enough to seek conservation laws of (5.9). Applying the full direct method to (5.9) gives us one further condition on C(k, l):

$$C(k+1, l+1) - C(k+1, l) - C(k, l+1) + C(k, l) = 0.$$

Consequently all nonautonomous dKdV equations that have nontrivial three-point conservation laws can be mapped to

$$(u_{1,1} - u_{0,0})(u_{1,0} - u_{0,1}) = f(k) - g(l).$$
(5.10)

5.2.2 The generalized nonautonomous dpmKdV equation

In the same way, we apply the direct method to the generalization of the nonautonomous dpmKdV equation

$$u_{1,1} = u_{0,0} \frac{[A(k,l) \ u_{1,0} - B(k,l) u_{0,1}]}{[u_{0,1} - C(k,l) \ u_{1,0}]},$$
(5.11)

where A(k, l), B(k, l) and C(k, l) are arbitrary functions. Then the components F and G are of the form

$$F = \nu(k, l)u_{0,0}u_{0,1} - \xi(k, l)\frac{u_{0,1}}{u_{0,0}} - \zeta(k, l)\frac{u_{0,0}}{u_{0,1}} + \frac{\mu(k, l)}{u_{0,0}u_{0,1}},$$

$$G = \xi(k, l)C(k, l)\frac{u_{1,0}}{u_{0,0}} - \nu(k, l)\frac{A(k, l)}{B(k, l)}u_{0,0}u_{1,0} + \zeta(k, l)\frac{B(k, l)}{A(k, l)}\frac{u_{0,0}}{u_{1,0}} - \frac{\mu(k, l)}{C(k, l)u_{0,0}u_{1,0}},$$

where the functions ξ, μ, ν and ζ satisfy the constraints

$$\xi(k+1,l)\zeta(k+1,l) = \xi(k,l)\zeta(k,l),$$
(5.12)

$$\mu(k+1,l)\nu(k+1,l) = \mu(k,l)\nu(k,l), \qquad (5.13)$$

$$C(k,l+1)/C(k,l) = \xi(k+1,l)/\xi(k,l+1), \qquad (5.14)$$

$$A(k,l) = \zeta(k+1,l)/\xi(k,l),$$
 (5.15)

$$\xi(k, l+1)\mu(k, l+1) = \mu(k, l)\zeta(k, l), \qquad (5.16)$$

$$\nu(k, l+1)\zeta(k, l+1) = \xi(k, l)\nu(k, l), \qquad (5.17)$$

$$\nu(k+1,l)B(k,l) = \nu(k,l)C(k,l).$$
(5.18)

From (5.12), (5.13) and (5.16), (5.17) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \xi(k+1,l)\mu(k+1,l)\nu(k+1,l)\zeta(k+1,l) &= \xi(k,l)\mu(k,l)\nu(k,l)\zeta(k,l), \\ \xi(k,l+1)\mu(k,l+1)\nu(k,l+1)\zeta(k,l+1) &= \xi(k,l)\mu(k,l)\nu(k,l)\zeta(k,l), \\ &\Rightarrow \xi(k,l)\mu(k,l)\nu(k,l)\zeta(k,l) &= c, \quad (5.19) \end{aligned}$$

where c is a constant. Also the conditions (5.12) gives

$$\xi(k,l)\zeta(k,l) = H(l). \tag{5.20}$$

Here H(l) is an arbitrary function. So, from (5.19) we have

$$\mu(k,l)\nu(k,l) = \frac{c}{H(l)}.$$
(5.21)

Define a new function $\psi(k, l)$ by

$$\xi(k,l) = \frac{\psi(k,l+1)}{\psi(k,l)}.$$
(5.22)

Note that $\psi(k, l)$ is defined up to arbitrary factor that is a function of k only. Then (5.14) gives

$$C(k,l) = \frac{\psi(k+1,l)}{\psi(k,l+1)}.$$
(5.23)

From (5.15), (5.20) and (5.22) we have

$$A(k,l) = \frac{H(l)}{\xi(k,l)\xi(k+1,l)} = H(l)\frac{\psi(k,l)\psi(k+1,l)}{\psi(k,l+1)\psi(k+1,l+1)},$$
(5.24)

and from (5.17), (5.21) and (5.22)

$$H(m+1)\nu(k,l+1) = \xi(k,l)\xi(k,l+1)\nu(k,l) = \frac{\nu(k,l)\psi(k,l+2)}{\psi(k,l)}.$$
 (5.25)

Let G(l) be a solution of

$$\frac{G(l+1)}{G(l)}=H(l+1),$$

so G(l) is defined up to an arbitrary constant factor. Then (5.25) yields

$$\frac{G(l+1)\nu(k,l+1)}{\psi(k,l+1)\psi(k,l+2)} = \frac{G(l)\nu(k,l)}{\psi(k,l)\psi(k,l+1)} \Rightarrow \nu(k,l) = \frac{\psi(k,l)\psi(k,l+1)}{G(l)F(k)}.$$
 (5.26)

Here F(k) is an arbitrary function. From (5.21) and (5.20) we have

$$\mu(k,l) = c \frac{F(k)G(m-1)}{\psi(k,l)\psi(k,l+1)}, \quad \zeta(k,l) = \frac{G(l)\psi(k,l)}{G(l-1)\psi(k,l+1)}$$

So far, we have written $\xi(k,l)$, $\mu(k,l)$, $\nu(k,l)$, $\zeta(k,l)$ in terms of $\psi(k+i,l+j)$ and the arbitrary functions F(k), G(l). The condition (5.23) gives C(k,l) in terms of $\psi(k+i,l+j)$. The identity (5.24) can written as

$$A(k,l) = \frac{G(l)\psi(k,l)\psi(k+1,l)}{G(l-1)\psi(k,l+1)\psi(k+1,l+1)}.$$

From (5.18), (5.23) and (5.26), we obtain

$$B(k,l) = \frac{\nu(k,l)}{\nu(k+1,l)}C(k,l) = \frac{F(k+1)\psi(k,l)}{F(k)\psi(k+1,l+1)}$$

Therefore, the only equations with nonzero A, B and C that admit three-point conservation laws are of the form:

$$u_{1,1} = u_{0,0} \frac{\psi(k,l)}{\psi(k+1,l+1)} \left(\frac{g(l)^2 \psi(k+1,l) u_{1,0} - f(k)^2 \psi(k,l+1) u_{0,1}}{\psi(k,l+1) u_{0,1} - \psi(k+1,l) u_{1,0}} \right),$$
(5.27)

where $g(l)^2 = \frac{G(l)}{G(l-1)}$ and $f(k)^2 = \frac{F(k+1)}{F(k)}$. The transformation

$$u_{0,0}\mapsto u_{0,0}\frac{\delta(l)\gamma(k)}{\psi(k,l)},$$

where $\frac{\delta(l+1)}{\delta(l)} = g(l)$ and $\frac{\gamma(k+1)}{\gamma(k)} = f(k)$, reduces (5.27) to the standard dpmKdV equation

$$u_{1,1} = u_{0,0} \frac{[g(l)u_{1,0} - f(k)u_{0,1}]}{[g(l)u_{0,1} - f(k)u_{1,0}]}$$

5.3 Similarity solutions

One way of finding similarity solutions of quad-graph equations was considered in [48, 50]. In [6, 7, 13, 15] geometrical aspects are discussed; these papers provide a clear introduction to reduction. The authors define three initial points, from which they construct symmetric initial conditions for a given quad-graph equation. This approach typically yields an integrable map; discrete Painlevé equations can be generated in this way.

Another approach is to reduce the number of variables by requiring that the solution is invariant under the symmetries generated by a characteristic. This method is widely used for continuous systems [33, 57], and has been applied to the dKdV equation in [73].

We shall illustrate the method by seeking nonzero solutions of $H3_{\delta=0}$ that are invariant under the symmetries generated by

$$Q = Q_4 - aQ_2 = \frac{u_{0,0}(u_{1,0} + u_{-1,0})}{u_{1,0} - u_{-1,0}} - au_{0,0}, \qquad a > 1.$$

The general solution of the invariance condition Q = 0 (with $u_{0,0} \neq 0$) is

$$u_{0,0} = (f_1(l) + (-1)^k f_2(l)) \left(\sqrt{\frac{a+1}{a-1}}\right)^k, \qquad (5.28)$$

where f_1 and f_2 are arbitrary functions. By substituting (5.28) into $H3_{\delta=0}$ we find that

$$f_1(l) = c_1(-1)^l f_2(l),$$

where c_1 is an arbitrary constant. If $c_1^2 \neq 1$ then f_2 satisfies the following ordinary difference equation:

$$\alpha\sqrt{a^2-1}\left(\frac{f_2(l+1)}{f_2(l)}\right)^2 + 2a\beta \,\frac{f_2(l+1)}{f_2(l)} + \alpha\sqrt{a^2-1} = 0,\tag{5.29}$$

which yields a large family of exact solutions, including

$$u_{0,0} = (\bar{c}_1 + c_2(-1)^{k+l}) \left(\sqrt{\frac{a+1}{a-1}}\right)^k \left(\frac{a\beta + \sqrt{\alpha^2 + a^2\beta^2 - a^2\alpha^2}}{\alpha\sqrt{a^2 - 1}}\right)^l,$$

where $\bar{c}_1 = c_1 c_2$.

If $c_1 = \pm 1$ then there are no further constraints, so there are two families of invariant solutions

$$u_{0,0} = f_2(l) \left((-1)^l \pm (-1)^k \right) \left(\sqrt{\frac{a+1}{a-1}} \right)^k.$$
(5.30)

These belong to the following degenerate class of solutions of $H3_{\delta=0}$:

$$u_{0,0} = F(k,l) \left((-1)^l \pm (-1)^k \right), \tag{5.31}$$

where F is an arbitrary function.

Chapter 6

Conclusion

6.1 Conservation laws

All presented results are obtained with the help of Hydon's method [34]. This method is a practical way of determining the conservation laws of a given form. The method of invariant differentiation enables the user to obtain closed form solutions of the determining equations. Once these solutions have been found, the reconstruction of the conservation law is usually easy. The most complicated part of the technique is the derivation of PDEs by invariant differentiation, but this is not difficult if a reliable computer algebra system is used.

All three-point conservation laws for all equations from NQC equation and the ABS classification have been found. For each of the equations from the ABS classification we found three five-point conservation laws. The effectiveness of Hydon's direct method for constructing conservation laws [34] has been improved by using two reductions to PDEs instead of only one, and by using commuting differential operators to begin the reduction. We have used this method as far as possible to calculate conservation laws, as this guarantees that all conservation laws of a particular type have been found. However, for all but two of the ABS equations, it was necessary to supplement the direct method with extra hypotheses, based on the results that we had obtained so far. This hybrid approach led to the discovery that each of the ABS equations (for constant α and β) has

CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSION

three five-point conservation laws. If only one of α and β is constant then we can find only one five-point conservation law. It seems likely that these are the only five-point conservation laws, but we cannot yet be certain that this is so.

A technique which generates a conservation law from a known one was shown. So far it is the only technique which may give an infinite number of conservation laws. This technique is easy to use, but it does not guarantee that new conservation law cannot be reduced to a known or trivial one. Therefore we cannot say that ABS equations have an infinite number of conservation laws.

An example of conservation laws for a Toda type system is presented. The connection between these conservation laws and symmetries is shown.

We have shown that construction of conservation laws provides an efficient tool to investigate integrable nonautonomous nonlinear partial difference equations. We used these methods to find integrable nonautonomous versions of the dKdV and dpmKdV equations.

ABS equations that are nonautonomous do not admit five-point conservation laws with G in the k direction when α is not constant; similarly there are no five-point conservation laws with F in the l direction when β is not constant. A similar situation arises for symmetries: there are no five-point symmetries in the k (respectively l) direction when α (respectively β) is not constant. Recently Levi and coworkers used isospectral and nonisospectral deformations of the Lax pair to find symmetries for two of the ABS equations [38, 39]. They found that the local mastersymmetries disappear if the equations are nonautonomous. If the same is true for the other nonautonomous ABS equations, this may well be the reason why there are no five-point conservation laws.

We show the program for deriving three-point conservation laws for quad-graph equations.

6.2 Symmetries

The result of this work is the derivation of the complete set of symmetries on a fivepoint cross for equations from the ABS classification. We found all symmetries by a

CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSION

generalization of the method which is described in [32]. This confirms that this method can be used in a systematic way without making restrictive assumptions about the form of symmetries.

The symmetries that we have found have various applications. For instance, symmetries can be used to obtain group-invariant reductions that lead to exact solutions of the quad-graph equations. We have only considered a single example of such a reduction (for $H3_{\delta=0}$). However we have shown that all ABS equations have infinitely many symmetries, any of which could be used to construct invariant solutions. Five-point and other higher symmetries can also be used for the generation of new conservation laws. It is notable that all equations from [5] have four five-point symmetries that have similar forms.

Mastersymmetries for integrable equations on the quad-graph have been derived. These mastersymmetries allow us to construct infinite hierarchies of local symmetries. It is important to allow mastersymmetries to act on α and β ; otherwise the mastersymmetries for Q3 and Q4 would not have been found. The existence of mastersymmetries shows the similarity of structures for continuous and difference equations.

We have discussed the relation between the symmetries of quad-graph equations and symmetries for Toda type systems. We have also verified that for each symmetry of the integrable quad-graph equation there is a corresponding symmetry of the related Toda type system. It is not yet known whether this relationship is true for all symmetries of integrable quad-graph equations.

A program for deriving five-point symmetries for quad-graph equations is presented.

Our results show that the set of symmetries of integrable quad-graphs has similar features to the continuous integrable case. It is likely that the same is true for conservation laws.

A general question that arises from Chapters 2 and 3 is how conservation laws and symmetries for Q4 coalesce to those of the other ABS equations in appropriate limits of the parameters.

There are large classes of difference equations which have not been considered in this thesis, such as multicomponent quad-graph equations or equations that involve more
points (for instance the Boussinesq lattice equation which involves 9 points). Looking for conservation laws and symmetries for these classes of equations would be a good topic for future research.

The results presented in this thesis have been published in [65, 66, 67, 68, 71].

Appendix A

Maple programs

A.1 Program for deriving three-point conservation laws for quad-graph equations.

This program helps the user to find three-point conservation laws for quad-graph equations. These conservation laws satisfy a functional equation, which we solve by reducing it to a system of partial differential equations. The theoretical part of the program was explained before.

Packages that we use in this worksheet

- > restart;
- > with(DEtools,rifsimp):
- > with(LREtools):

Input the equation which must depend upon all four values u[k, l], u[k + 1, l], u[k, l + 1], u[k + 1, l + 1]. The equation should be linear with respect to u[k + 1, l], u[k + 1, l + 1] and polynomial with respect to u[k, l], u[k, l + 1]. The equation may involve constants or functions, which should be written α, β, \ldots or $\alpha[k, l], \beta[k, l], \ldots$, as appropriate.

- > eq:=(u[k+1,1+1]-u[k,1])*(u[k+1,1]-u[k,1+1])+(beta-alpha)*(u[k+1,1+1]+u[k+1,1]+u[k ,1+1]+u[k,1])+beta^2-alpha^2;
- > U[k+1,1]:=u[k+1,1]=solve(eq,u[k+1,1]):
- > U[k+1,1+1]:=u[k+1,1+1]=solve(eq,u[k+1,1+1]):

$$eq := (u_{k+1,l+1} - u_{k,l})(u_{k+1,l} - u_{k,l+1}) + (\beta - \alpha)(u_{k+1,l+1} + u_{k+1,l} + u_{k,l+1} + u_{k,l}) + \beta^2 - \alpha^2$$

Components of three-point conservation laws
> f:=F(u[k,1],u[k,1+1]);

- // I:-r(u[k,1],u[k,1+1]);
- > g:=G(u[k,1],u[k+1,1]);

$$f := F(u_{k,l}, u_{k,l+1})$$
$$g := G(u_{k,l}, u_{k+1,l})$$

We provide a procedure which differentiates A with respect to C until A is not a polynomial in B. For instance if an expression A is a polynomial in two functions P1(C), P2(B) then an expression that does not involve B can be obtained by repeated differentiation with respect to C.

```
> SSplit:=proc(A,B,C)
> local POL;
> POL:=A:
> while(type(POL, polynom(anything,B))=false) do
> POL:=numer(simplify(diff(POL,C)));
```

> end do;

```
> return(POL);
```

> end proc:

The three-point conservation laws can be determined directly by substituting the quadgraph equation eq into R = 0, where

$$R := F(u_{k,l}, u_{k,l+1}) - F(u_{k+1,l}, u_{k+1,l+1}) + G(u_{k,l}, u_{k+1,l}) - G(u_{k,l+1}, u_{k+1,l+1})$$

and solving the resulting functional equation. In order to solve this functional equation we have to reduce it to a system of partial differential equations. To do this, first eliminate

functional terms by applying (commuting) differential operators L[1], L[2]. After that we obtain equation which has two unknown functions with different arguments. In order to eliminate one of the functions we use the procedure *SSplit*. We repeat all this process two times, first when we solve eq with respect to u[k+1, l] and plug it into R and second when we solve eq with respect to u[k+1, l+1] and plug it into R. We derive a system of

PDE's on F(u[k, l], u[k, l+1])

- > for j from 0 by 1 to 1 do
- > assign(U[k+1,l+j]);
- > L[1]:=A->diff(A,u[k,l+j])-diff(u[k+1,l+j],u[k,l+j])/diff(u[k+1,l+j],u[k,l+1-j])* diff(A,u[k,l+1-j]):
- > L[2]:=A->diff(A,u[k+1,1+1-j])-diff(u[k+1,1+j],u[k+1,1+1-j])/diff(u[k+1,1+j],u[k, 1+1-j])*diff(A,u[k,1+1-j]):
- > R2:=L[2](L[1](R)):
- > unassign('u[k+1,1+j]'):
- > R3:=numer(simplify(R2)):
- > R4:=SSplit(R3,u[k+1,l+1-j],u[k,l+j]);

```
> u[k,1]:=a:u[k,1+1]:=b:
```

- > R5:=numer(primpart(R4,[D[1,2](F)(a,b),D[1,2,2](F)(a,b),D[1,1,2](F)(a,b)])):
- > sys[j]:=coeffs(R5,u[k+1,l+1-j]);
- > unassign('u[k,1]','u[k,1+1]');
- > end do:
- > sys1:=convert({sys[0],sys[1]},diff):

The order of this system can be decreased by two with help of the substitution > F(a,b):=int(int(F1(a,b),a),b):

> sys2:=simplify(sys1):

The resulting equations are easy to solve

- > RS:=rifsimp(convert(sys2,diff)):
- > sol:=simplify(convert(pdsolve(RS['Solved']),int));
- > assign(sol);

$$sol := \left\{ F1(a,b) = \frac{-C2\alpha^2 + 2 - C2\alpha a + 2 - C2\alpha b + -C2\alpha^2 + 2 - C2\alpha b + -C2b^2 + -C1}{(\alpha + a + b)^2} \right\}$$

It can cause some problems if this solution has arbitrary functions; do not expect

the program to find conservation laws in this case. However the preliminary form of F1(a, b) can be used for further calculations which can be done with input from the user. By integrating back we obtain two arbitrary functions FA(a) and FB(b). The function FA(a) can be removed (without loss of generality) by adding the trivial conservation law

> F(a,b):=int(int(F1(a,b),a),b)+FB(b);

> F:=unapply(F(a,b),a,b):

 $F(a, b) := -C2 ab - -C1 \ln (\alpha + a + b) + FB(b)$

So far we did not use the fact that f explicitly depends on k, l. Now we redefine constants to make them depend upon k, l.

> f:=subs(_C1=C1[k,1],_C2=C2[k,1],_C3=C3[k,1],_C4=C4[k,1],(F(u[k,1],u[k,l+1]))):

Now we derive and solve the system of PDE's for G(u[k, l], u[k, l + 1]). The expression for F(u[k, l], u[k, l + 1]) which we just obtained is used to derive an equation for G(u[k, l], u[k, l + 1]). That is why the following procedure is not so difficult as for F(u[k, l], u[k, l + 1]). We use just one differential operator L[1] in order to obtain a PDE R:=f-shift(f,k)+g-shift(g,1):

- > assign(U[k+1,1+1]):

> L[1]:=A->diff(A,u[k+1,1])-diff(u[k+1,1+1],u[k+1,1])/diff(u[k+1,1+1],u[k,1])*diff (A,u[k,1]):

- > R1:=simplify(L[1](R)):
- > unassign('u[k+1,l+1]'):
- > R2:=primpart(SSplit(numer(R1),u[k,l+1],u[k+1,1]),D[2](G)(u[k,1],u[k+1,1])):
- > sys1:=coeffs(R2,u[k,l+1]):
- > RS2:=rifsimp(convert({sys1},diff)):
- > so:=simplify(convert(pdsolve(select(has,RS2['Solved'],G(u[k,1],u[k+1,1]))),int));
- > assign(so):

$$sol2 := \{G(u_{k,l}, u_{k+1,l}) = -C2_{k,l}\alpha u_{k,l} - u_{k,l}C2_{k,l}u_{k+1,l} + \beta C2_{k,l}u_{k,l} + C1_{k,l}\ln(u_{k+1,l} + u_{k,l} + \beta) + C2_{k,l}\beta u_{k+1,l} - C2_{k,l}\alpha u_{k+1,l} + C1\}$$

So far we did not use the fact that g explicitly depends on k, l. Again we redefine

constants to make them depend upon k, l.

```
> g:=subs(_C1=C5[k,1],_C2=C6[k,1],_C3=C7[k,1],_C4=C8[k,1],(G(u[k,1],u[k+1,1]))):
```

Now we derive equations for Ci[k, l], i = 1..8 and for FB(u[k, l+1])

> for j from 0 by 1 to 1 do

```
> R:=f-shift(f,k)+g-shift(g,l);
```

> assign(U[k+1,1+1]);

```
> L[1]:=A->diff(A,u[k+j,l+1-j])-diff(u[k+1,l+1],u[k+j,l+1-j])/diff(u[k+1,l+1],u[k,
1])*diff(A,u[k,1]):
```

- > R1:=numer(simplify(L[1](R))):
- > unassign('u[k+1,1+1]'):
- > R2:=numer(simplify(primpart(R1,{C1[k,1],C2[k,1],C3[k,1]}))):
- > sys[j]:=coeffs(R2,{u[k,1],u[k+1,1+1],u[k+1-j,1+j],u[k+1,1]});
- > end do:
- > sys3:=convert({sys[0],sys[1]},diff):

These equations can be simplified to

- > RS3:=rifsimp(sys3);
- > sl:=subs(_C1=0,_C2=0,dsolve(select(has,RS3['Solved'],FB(u[k,l+1])))):
- > assign(sl):

$$RS3 := TABLE([Solved = [\frac{d}{du_{k,l+1}}FB(u_{k,l+1}) = 0, C1_{k+1,l} = -C1_{k,l}, C1_{k,l+1} = -C1_{k,l}, C2_{k,l+1} = -C2_{k,l}, C2_{k,l+1} = -C2_{k,l}]])$$

The final form of f and g is

- > f:=simplify(combine(f,ln,symbolic));
- > g:=simplify(combine(g,ln,symbolic));

$$f := C2_{k,l}u_{k,l}u_{k,l+1} - C1_{k,l}\ln(\alpha + u_{k,l} + u_{k,l+1})$$

$$g := -C2_{k,l}\alpha u_{k,l} - u_{k,l}C2_{k,l}u_{k+1,l} + \beta C2_{k,l}u_{k,l} + C1_{k,l}\ln(u_{k+1,l} + u_{k,l} + \beta) + C2_{k,l}\beta u_{k+1,l} - C2_{k,l}\alpha u_{k+1,l} + C5_{k,l}$$

We obtained expressions for functions f and g. Ci[k, l], i = 1..8 can be derived from RS3 and by direct substitution for f and g in f - shift(f, k) + g - shift(g, l) =

0. When this equation is satisfied the only remaining unknowns are the constants that multiply each conservation law. Pivots in RS3 should be taken into account because they can lead to special cases.

A.2 Program for deriving five-point symmetries for quad-graph equations.

This program helps the user to find five-point symmetries for quad-graph equations. Symmetry characteristics satisfy a functional equation, which we solve by reducing it to a system of partial differential equations. The theoretical part of the program was explained before.

- Packages that we use in this worksheet:
- > restart;
- > with(LREtools):
- > with(DEtools,rifsimp):

Input the equation which must depend upon all four values u[k, l], u[k + 1, l], u[k, l + 1], u[k + 1, l + 1]. The equation should be linear with respect to u[k + 1, l], u[k + 1, l + 1] and polynomial with respect to u[k, l], u[k, l + 1]. The equation may involve constants or functions, which should be written α, β, \ldots or $\alpha[k, l], \beta[k, l], \ldots$, as appropriate.

- > eq:=alpha*(u[k,1]*u[k+1,1]+u[k,1+1]*u[k+1,1+1])-beta*(u[k,1]*u[k,1+1]+u[k+1,1]*u[k+1,1+1])+(alpha^2-beta^2);
- k+1,1+1])+(alpha 2-beta 2);
- > U[k+1,l+1]:=u[k+1,l+1]=solve(eq,u[k+1,l+1]):
- > U[k,1]:=u[k,1]=solve(eq,u[k,1]):
- > U[k+2,1+1]:=shift(u[k+1,1+1]=solve(eq,u[k+1,1+1]),k):
- > U[k+1,1+2]:=shift(u[k+1,1+1]=solve(eq,u[k+1,1+1]),1):
- > U[k-1,1]:=shift(u[k,1]=solve(eq,u[k,1]),k,-1):
- > U[k,1-1]:=shift(u[k,1]=solve(eq,u[k,1]),1,-1):
- > U[k+2,1]:=shift(u[k+1,1]=solve(eq,u[k+1,1]),k):
- > U[k,1+2]:=shift(u[k,1+1]=solve(eq,u[k,1+1]),1):
- > U[k-1,1+1]:=shift(u[k,1+1]=solve(eq,u[k,1+1]),k,-1):

```
> U[k+1,1-1]:=shift(u[k+1,1]=solve(eq,u[k+1,1]),1,-1):
```

$$eq := \alpha \left(u_{k,l} u_{k+1,l} + u_{k,l+1} u_{k+1,l+1} \right) - \beta \left(u_{k,l} u_{k,l+1} + u_{k+1,l} u_{k+1,l+1} \right) + \alpha^2 - \beta^2$$

Five-point symmetry characteristic:

$$q := Q1 (u_{k-1,l}, u_{k,l}, u_{k+1,l}) + Q2 (u_{k,l-1}, u_{k,l}, u_{k,l+1})$$

The infinitesimal generator is

> X:=A->q*diff(A,u[k,1])+shift(q,k)*diff(A,u[k+1,1])+shift(q,1)*diff(A,u[k,1+1])+sh
ift(shift(q,1),k)*diff(A,u[k+1,1+1])+xi[2](beta)*diff(A,beta):

The linearized symmetry condition can be reduced to four PDE's.

> assign(U[k+1,1+1],U[k+2,1+1],U[k+1,1+2],U[k+1,1-1],U[k-1,1+1]):

> R21:=diff(-1/diff(u[k+1,1+1],u[k+1,1])*diff(Q1(u[k,1+1],u[k+1,1+1],u[k+2,1+1]),u[k+2,1]),u[k,1+1]);

> R22:=diff(-1/diff(u[k+1,1+1],u[k,1+1])*diff(Q2(u[k+1,1],u[k+1,1+1],u[k+1,1+2]),u[k,1+2]),u[k+1,1]):

> R23:=diff(diff(u[k+1,1+1],u[k+1,1])/diff(u[k+1,1+1],u[k,1])*diff(Q2(u[k+1,1-1],u[k+1,1],u[k+1,1+1]),u[k,1-1]),u[k+1,1]):

```
> R24:=diff(diff(u[k+1,1+1],u[k,1+1])/diff(u[k+1,1+1],u[k,1])*diff(Q1(u[k-1,1+1],u[
k,1+1],u[k+1,1+1]),u[k-1,1]),u[k,1+1]):
```

```
> unassign('u[k+1,l+1]'):unassign('u[k+2,l+1]'):unassign('u[k+1,l+2]'):unassign('u[
k-1,l+1]'):unassign('u[k+1,l-1]'):
```

```
> assign(U[k,1],U[k+2,1],U[k,1+2],U[k-1,1],U[k,1-1]):
```

```
> R31:=primpart(numer(simplify(R21)),D[3](Q1)(u[k,1+1],u[k+1,1+1],u[k+2,1+1]));
```

```
> R32:=primpart(numer(simplify(R22)),D[3](Q2)(u[k+1,1],u[k+1,1+1],u[k+1,1+2]));
```

```
> R33:=primpart(numer(simplify(R23)),D[1](Q2)(u[k+1,1-1],u[k+1,1],u[k+1,1+1])):
```

```
> R34:=primpart(numer(simplify(R24)),D[1](Q1)(u[k-1,1+1],u[k,1+1],u[k+1,1+1])):
```

```
> unassign('u[k,1]'):unassign('u[k+2,1]'):unassign('u[k,1+2]'):unassign('u[k-1,1]')
:unassign('u[k,1-1]'):
```

Each of these equations can be split into a system of PDE's. After splitting of all the equations we obtain

```
> sys1:=coeffs(shift(shift(R31,k,-1),l,-1), {u[k,l+1],u[k-1,l+1],u[k+1,l-1],u[k+1,l+
1]}):
```

- > sys2:=coeffs(shift(shift(R32,k,-1),1,-1), {u[k+1,1],u[k-1,1+1],u[k+1,1-1],u[k+1,1+
 1]}):
- > sys3:=coeffs(shift(R33,k,-1), {u[k+1,1],u[k-1,1+1],u[k+1,1-1],u[k+1,1+1]}):
- > sys4:=coeffs(shift(R34,1,-1), {u[k,1+1],u[k-1,1+1],u[k+1,1-1],u[k+1,1+1]}):
- > SYS:={sys1,sys2,sys3,sys4}:

The solution of this system is obtained after simplification with rifsimp.

- > RS1:=rifsimp(convert(SYS,diff)):
- > sol1:=convert(pdsolve(RS1['Solved']),list);

$$sol1 := \left[Q2\left(u_{k,l-1}, u_{k,l}, u_{k,l+1}\right) = \frac{\left(-u_{k,l-1} + u_{k,l+1}\right) - F6\left(u_{k,l}\right) + -C2\left(\beta + u_{k,l-1}u_{k,l}\right)}{-u_{k,l-1} + u_{k,l+1}}, \\ Q1\left(u_{k-1,l}, u_{k,l}, u_{k+1,l}\right) = \frac{\left(-u_{k+1,l} + u_{k-1,l}\right) - F3\left(u_{k,l}\right) - -C1\left(\alpha + u_{k-1,l}u_{k,l}\right)}{-u_{k+1,l} + u_{k-1,l}}\right]$$

Further calculations very much depend on Q1 and Q2. The next procedure helps us to find unknown functions in Q1 and Q2. It works in the case when each of Q1 and Q2 depend upon one unknown function of u[k, l]. So far we did not use the fact that q explicitly depends on k, l. Now we redefine constants to make it depend upon k, l. Without loss of generality one of unknown functions in Q1 and Q2 is zero and another is denoted as F1

> assign(subs(_C1=C1[k,1],_C2=C2[k,1],_C3=C3[k,1],_C4=C4[k,1],_C5=C5[k,1],_C6=C6[k, 1],_F1(u[k,1])=0,_F2(u[k,1])=0,_F3(u[k,1])=0,_F4(u[k,1])=0,_F5(u[k,1])=0,_F6(u[k,1])) =0,_F7(u[k,1])=0,_F8(u[k,1])=0,_F9(u[k,1])=0,sol1[1]));

> assign(subs(_C1=C1[k,1],_C2=C2[k,1],_C3=C3[k,1],_C4=C4[k,1],_C5=C5[k,1],_C6=C6[k, 1],_F1(u[k,1])=F1(u[k,1]),_F2(u[k,1])=F1(u[k,1]),_F3(u[k,1])=F1(u[k,1]),_F4(u[k,1])= F1(u[k,1]),_F5(u[k,1])=F1(u[k,1]),_F6(u[k,1])=F1(u[k,1]),_F7(u[k,1])=F1(u[k,1]),_F8(u[k,1])=F1(u[k,1]),_F9(u[k,1])=F1(u[k,1]),sol1[2])); > 'q'=q;

$$q = \frac{(-u_{k+1,l} + u_{k-1,l}) F1(u_{k,l}) - C1_{k,l}(\alpha + u_{k-1,l}u_{k,l})}{-u_{k+1,l} + u_{k-1,l}} + \frac{C2_{k,l}(\beta + u_{k,l-1}u_{k,l})}{-u_{k,l-1} + u_{k,l+1}}$$

By differentiating the linearized symmetry condition we obtain intermediate conditions which simplify our calculations

```
> R:=X(u[k+1,1+1]-solve(eq,u[k+1,1+1])):
```

```
> assign(U[k+1,1+1],U[k+2,1+1],U[k+1,1+2],U[k+1,1-1],U[k-1,1+1]):
```

> RR:=simplify(R):

> R1:=primpart(numer(simplify(diff(R,u[k+2,1]))),{C1[k+1,1],C2[k+1,1],C3[k+1,1],C4[k+1,1],C5[k+1,1],C6[k+1,1]});

> R2:=primpart(numer(simplify(diff(R,u[k,l+2]))),{C1[k,l+1],C2[k,l+1],C3[k,l+1],C4[k,l+1],C5[k,l+1],C6[k,l+1]}):

> unassign('u[k+1,l+1]'):unassign('u[k+2,l+1]'):unassign('u[k+1,l+2]'):unassign('u[k+1,l+1]'):

> sys:={coeffs(R2,{u[k,1],u[k,1+1],u[k+1,1],u[k-1,1],u[k,1-1],u[k,1+2]}),coeffs(R1, {u[k,1],u[k,1+1],u[k+1,1],u[k-1,1],u[k,1-1],u[k+2,1]});

```
> RS1:=rifsimp(convert({sys},diff));
```

```
> assign(RS1['Solved']):
```

$$R1 := -C1_{k+1,l} + C1_{k+1,l+1}$$

$$RS1 := TABLE ([Solved = [C1_{k+1,l+1} = C1_{k+1,l}, C2_{k+1,l+1} = C2_{k,l+1}]])$$

```
We find the function F1
```

```
> R11:=simplify('if'(has(RR,F1(u[k,1]))=true,diff(RR/coeff(RR,F1(u[k,1])),u[k,1+1])
,RR)):
```

```
> R12:=simplify('if'(has(R11,F1(u[k+1,1]))=true,diff(R11/coeff(R11,F1(u[k+1,1])),u[
k,1]),R11)):
```

> R13:='if'(has(R12,F1(u[k, l+1]))=true,diff(R12/coeff(R12,F1(u[k,l+1])),u[k,l]),R1
2):

> assign(U[k,1]):

> R2:=primpart(numer(simplify(R13)),[F1(u[k+1,1+1]),D(F1)(u[k+1,1+1]),'00'(D, 2)(F1)(u[k+1,1+1])]):

```
> unassign('u[k,1]'):
```

```
> sys3:=coeffs(shift(shift(R2,k,-1),l,-1),{u[k+1,l+1],u[k,l+1],u[k+1,l],u[k-1,l],u[
k,l-1]}):
```

```
> RS2:=rifsimp(convert({sys3},diff));
```

```
> sol:=subs(_C1=C7[k,1],_C2=C8[k,1],_C3=C9[k,1],_C4=C10[k,1],dsolve(RS2['Solved']));
```

```
> assign(sol):
```

$$RS2 := TABLE([Solved = [\frac{d^2}{du_{k,l}^2}F1(u_{k,l}) = 0],$$

$$Case = [[\beta \neq 0, \frac{d^2}{du_{k,l}^2}F1(u_{k,l})]], Pivots = [\beta \neq 0]])$$

$$sol := \{F1(u_{k,l}) = C7_{k,l}u_{k,l} + C8_{k,l}\}$$

Now we derive the final conditions on the unknown functions. This procedure works if q is a polynomial. All other cases should be considered individually.

- > simplify(Q1(u[k-1,1],u[k,1],u[k+1,1])+Q2(u[k,1-1],u[k,1],u[k,1+1])):
- > q:=simplify(%):
- > R:=X(u[k+1,1+1]-solve(eq,u[k+1,1+1])):
- > assign(U[k+1,1+1],U[k+2,1+1],U[k+1,1+2],U[k+1,1-1],U[k-1,1+1]):
- > R1:=primpart(numer(simplify(R)),u[k,l]):
- > sys1:=coeffs(R1,{u[k,1],u[k,1+1],u[k+1,1],u[k-1,1],u[k,1-1],u[k+2,1],u[k,1+2]}):
- > RS3:=rifsimp(convert({sys1},diff)):

The final form of q with all conditions is

- > 'q'=convert(convert(q,parfrac,u[k+1,1]),parfrac,u[k,1+1]);
- > cond:=[RS1['Solved'],RS3['Solved']];

$$q = C7_{k,l}u_{k,l} + C8_{k,l} + \frac{C1_{k,l}(\alpha + u_{k-1,l}u_{k,l})}{u_{k+1,l} - u_{k-1,l}} + \frac{C2_{k,l}(\beta + u_{k,l-1}u_{k,l})}{-u_{k,l-1} + u_{k,l+1}}$$

$$\begin{aligned} cond &:= \left[\left[C1_{k+1,l} = C1_{k+1,l}, C2_{k,l+1} = C2_{k,l+1} \right], \\ \left[\xi_1 \left(\alpha \right) = -\alpha \left(C2_{k,l} + C1_{k,l} - C7_{k,l} - C7_{k+1,l} \right), \\ \xi_2 \left(\beta \right) = -\beta C2_{k,l} - \beta C1_{k,l} + \beta C7_{k,l} + \beta C7_{k,l+1}, \\ C1_{k+1,l} = -C7_{k,l+1} + C7_{k+1,l+1} + C7_{k+1,l} + C1_{k,l} - C7_{k,l}, \\ C1_{k,l+1} = C1_{k,l}, C2_{k+1,l} = C2_{k,l}, C8_{k+1,l+1} = 0, C8_{k+1,l} = 0, C8_{k,l+1} = 0, \\ C8_{k,l} = 0, C2_{k,l+1} = -C7_{k,l} - C7_{k+1,l} + C7_{k+1,l+1} + C7_{k,l+1} + C2_{k,l} \right] \end{aligned}$$

We obtained expressions for the function q. Ci[k, l], i = 1..9 can be derived from cond. Pivots in RS3 should be taken into account because they can lead to special cases.

Bibliography

- ABEL, N.-H. Almindelig Methode til.al finde Funktioner af een variabel Störrelse, naar en Egenskab af disse Funktioner er udtright vid en ligning mellem to Variable. Magazin for Naturvidenskaberne 1 (1823), 216-229.
- [2] ACZÉL, J. Lectures on functional equations and their applications. Mathematics in Science and Engineering, Vol. 19. Academic Press, New York, 1966.
- [3] ADLER, V. Bäcklund transformation for the Krichever-Novikov equation. Int. Math. Res. Not. 1998, 1 (1998), 1-4.
- [4] ADLER, V. E. Discrete equations on planar graphs. J. Phys. A 34, 48 (2001), 10453-10460.
- [5] ADLER, V. E., BOBENKO, A. I., AND SURIS, Y. B. Classification of integrable equations on quad-graphs. The consistency approach. *Comm. Math. Phys.* 239, 3 (2003), 513-543.
- [6] AGAFONOV, S. I., AND BOBENKO, A. I. Discrete Z^{γ} and Painlevé equations. Internat. Math. Res. Notices, 4 (2000), 165–193.
- [7] AGAFONOV, S. I., AND BOBENKO, A. I. Hexagonal circle patterns with constant intersection angles and discrete Painlevé and Riccati equations. J. Math. Phys. 44, 8 (2003), 3455-3469.
- [8] ANCO, S., AND BLUMAN, G. Direct construction method for conservation laws of partial differential equations. Part II: general treatment. Eur. J. Appl. Math. 13 (2002), 567-585.

- [9] ATKINSON, J., HIETARINTA, J., AND NIJHOFF, F. Seed and soliton solutions for Adler's lattice equation. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 40, 1 (2007), F1-F8.
- [10] BLUMAN, G. Connections between symmetries and conservation laws. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 1 (2005), Paper 011, 16 pp. (electronic).
- [11] BLUMAN, G., TEMUERCHAOLU, AND ANCO, S. C. New conservation laws obtained directly from symmetry action on a known conservation law. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 322, 1 (2006), 233-250.
- [12] BLUMAN, G. W., AND KUMEI, S. Symmetries and differential equations, vol. 81 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.
- [13] BOBENKO, A. I., AND HOFFMANN, T. Hexagonal circle patterns and integrable systems: patterns with constant angles. Duke Math. J. 116, 3 (2003), 525-566.
- [14] BOBENKO, A. I., AND SURIS, Y. B. Integrable systems on quad-graphs. Int. Math. Res. Not., 11 (2002), 573-611.
- [15] BOBENKO, A. I., AND SURIS, Y. B. Discrete differential geometry. Consistency as integrability, 2005.
- [16] BRIDGES, T. J. Multi-symplectic structures and wave propagation. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 121, 1 (1997), 147-190.
- [17] BUDD, C., AND DORODNITSYN, V. Symmetry-adapted moving mesh schemes for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation. J. Phys. A 34, 48 (2001), 10387-10400. Symmetries and integrability of difference equations (Tokyo, 2000).
- [18] CAPEL, H. W., NIJHOFF, F. W., AND PAPAGEORGIOU, V. G. Complete integrability of Lagrangian mappings and lattices of KdV type. *Phys. Lett. A* 155, 6-7 (1991), 377–387.
- [19] DORODNITSYN, V., KOZLOV, R., AND WINTERNITZ, P. Symmetries, Lagrangian formalism and integration of second order ordinary difference equations. J. Nonlinear Math. Phys. 10, suppl. 2 (2003), 41-56.

- [20] DORODNITSYN, V., KOZLOV, R., AND WINTERNITZ, P. Continuous symmetries of Lagrangians and exact solutions of discrete equations. J. Math. Phys. 45, 1 (2004), 336-359.
- [21] DORODNITSYN, V. A. A finite-difference analogue of Noether's theorem. Dokl. Akad. Nauk 328, 6 (1993), 678-682.
- [22] DRINFELD, V. G., SVINOLUPOV, S. I., AND SOKOLOV, V. V. Classification of fifth order evolution equations with infinite series of conservation laws. *Dokl. Ukrainian Akademy A 10* (1985), 7-10.
- [23] FINKEL, F., AND FOKAS, A. S. On the construction of evolution equations admitting a master symmetry. *Phys. Lett. A 293*, 1-2 (2002), 36-44.
- [24] FUCHSSTEINER, B. Mastersymmetries, higher order time-dependent symmetries and conserved densities of nonlinear evolution equations. *Progr. Theoret. Phys.* 70, 6 (1983), 1508-1522.
- [25] GRAGG, W. B. The Padé table and its relation to certain algorithms of numerical analysis. SIAM Rev. 14 (1972), 1-16.
- [26] GRAMMATICOS, B., NIJHOFF, F. W., AND RAMANI, A. Discrete Painlevé equations. In *The Painlevé property*, CRM Ser. Math. Phys. Springer, New York, 1999, pp. 413-516.
- [27] GRAMMATICOS, B., RAMANI, A., AND PAPAGEORGIOU, V. Do integrable mappings have the Painlevé property? *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 67 (1991), 1825-1828.
- [28] HIETARINTA, J. A new two-dimensional lattice model that is 'consistent around a cube'. J. Phys. A 37, 6 (2004), L67-L73.
- [29] HIETARINTA, J. Searching for CAC-maps. J. Nonlinear Math. Phys. 12 (2005), 223-230.
- [30] HIROTA, R. Nonlinear partial difference equations. I. A difference analogue of the Korteweg-de Vries equation. J. Phys. Soc. Japan 43, 4 (1977), 1424-1433.

- [31] HIROTA, R. Nonlinear partial difference equations. III. Discrete sine-Gordon equation. J. Phys. Soc. Japan 43, 6 (1977), 2079–2086.
- [32] HYDON, P. E. Symmetries and first integrals of ordinary difference equations. Proc. Roy. Soc. 456, 2004 (2000), 2835–2855.
- [33] HYDON, P. E. Symmetry methods for differential equations. Cambridge Texts in Applied Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2000.
- [34] HYDON, P. E. Conservation laws of partial difference equations with two independent variables. J. Phys. A 34, 48 (2001), 10347-10355.
- [35] HYDON, P. E. Multisymplectic conservation laws for differential and differentialdifference equations. Proc. Roy. Soc. 461, 2058 (2005), 1627-1637.
- [36] HYDON, P. E., AND MANSFIELD, E. L. A variational complex for difference equations. Found. Comput. Math. 4, 2 (2004), 187-217.
- [37] KUPERSHMIDT, B. A. Discrete Lax equations and differential-difference calculus. Astérisque 123 (1985), 1-212.
- [38] LEVI, D., AND PETRERA, M. Continuous symmetries of the lattice potential KdV equation. J. Phys. A 40, 15 (2007), 4141-4159.
- [39] LEVI, D., PETRERA, M., AND SCIMITERNA, C. The lattice Schwarzian KdV equation and its symmetries. Arxiv preprint math-ph/0701044 (2007).
- [40] LEVI, D., TREMBLAY, S., AND WINTERNITZ, P. Lie point symmetries of difference equations and lattices. J. Phys. A 33, 47 (2000), 8507-8523.
- [41] LEVI, D., AND WINTERNITZ, P. Continuous symmetries of difference equations. J. Phys. A 39, 2 (2006), R1-R63.
- [42] MAEDA, S. Extension of discrete Noether theorem. Math. Japon. 26, 1 (1981), 85-90.

- [43] MAEDA, S. The similarity method for difference equations. IMA J. Appl. Math. 38 (1987), 129–134.
- [44] MANSFIELD, E. L., AND SZANTO, A. Elimination theory for differential difference polynomials. In Proceedings of the 2003 International Symposium on Symbolic and Algebraic Computation (New York, 2003), ACM, pp. 191–198 (electronic).
- [45] MIKHAILOV, A. V., SHABAT, A. B., AND YAMILOV, R. I. The symmetry approach to the classification of non-linear systems. Complete lists of integrable systems. *Russ. Math. Surv.* 42 (1987), 1-63.
- [46] NIJHOFF, F. On some "Schwarzian" equations and their discrete analogues. In Algebraic aspects of integrable systems, vol. 26 of Progr. Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1997, pp. 237-260.
- [47] NIJHOFF, F., AND CAPEL, H. The discrete Korteweg-de Vries equation. Acta Appl. Math. 39, 1-3 (1995), 133-158.
- [48] NIJHOFF, F. W. Discrete Painlevé equations and symmetry reduction on the lattice. In Discrete integrable geometry and physics (Vienna, 1996), vol. 16 of Oxford Lecture Ser. Math. Appl. Oxford Univ. Press, New York, 1999, pp. 209-234.
- [49] NIJHOFF, F. W. Lax pair for the Adler (lattice Krichever-Novikov) system. Phys. Lett. A 297, 1-2 (2002), 49-58.
- [50] NIJHOFF, F. W., AND PAPAGEORGIOU, V. G. Similarity reductions of integrable lattices and discrete analogues of the Painlevé II equation. *Phys. Lett. A* 153, 6-7 (1991), 337-344.
- [51] NIJHOFF, F. W., QUISPEL, G. R. W., AND CAPEL, H. W. Direct linearization of nonlinear difference-difference equations. Phys. Lett. A 97, 4 (1983), 125-128.
- [52] NIJHOFF, F. W., RAMANI, A., GRAMMATICOS, B., AND OHTA, Y. On discrete Painlevé equations associated with the lattice KdV systems and the Painlevé VI equation. Stud. Appl. Math. 106, 3 (2001), 261-314.

- [53] NIJHOFF, F. W., AND WALKER, A. J. The discrete and continuous Painlevé VI hierarchy and the Garnier systems. Glasg. Math. J. 43A (2001), 109-123.
- [54] NOETHER, E. Invariant variation problems. Transport Theory Statist. Phys. 1, 3 (1971), 186-207. Translated from the German (Nachr. Akad. Wiss. Göttingen Math.-Phys. Kl. II 1918, 235-257).
- [55] OEVEL, W., FUCHSSTEINER, B., ZHANG, H., AND RAGNISCO, O. Mastersymmetries, angle variables, and recursion operator of the relativistic Toda lattice. J. Math. Phys. 30, 11 (1989), 2664-2670.
- [56] OEVEL, W., ZHANG, H., AND FUCHSSTEINER, B. Mastersymmetries and multi-Hamiltonian formulations for some integrable lattice systems. Progr. Theoret. Phys. 81, 2 (1989), 294-308.
- [57] OLVER, P. J. Applications of Lie groups to Differential Equations, 2nd ed. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993.
- [58] ORFANIDIS, S. Discrete sine-Gordon equations. Phys. Rev. D 18, 10 (1978), 3822-3827.
- [59] PAPAGEORGIOU, V. G., NIJHOFF, F. W., GRAMMATICOS, B., AND RAMANI, A. Isomonodromic deformation problems for discrete analogues of Painlevé equations. *Phys. Lett. A 164*, 1 (1992), 57-64.
- [60] PAPAGEORGIOU, V. G., TONGAS, A. G., AND VESELOV, A. P. Yang-Baxter maps and symmetries of integrable equations on quad-graphs. J. Math. Phys. 47, 8 (2006), 083502.
- [61] QUISPEL, G. R. W., NIJHOFF, F. W., CAPEL, H. W., AND VAN DER LINDEN, J. Linear integral equations and nonlinear difference-difference equations. *Phys. A* 125, 2-3 (1984), 344-380.
- [62] QUISPEL, G. R. W., AND SAHADEVAN, R. Lie symmetries and the integration of difference equations. Phys. Lett. A 184 (1993), 64-70.

- [63] RAMANI, A., JOSHI, N., GRAMMATICOS, B., AND TAMIZHMANI, T. Deconstructing an integrable lattice equation. J. Phys. A 39, 8 (2006), L145–L149.
- [64] RAÑADA, M. F. Superintegrability of the Calogero-Moser system: constants of motion, master symmetries, and time-dependent symmetries. J. Math. Phys. 40, 1 (1999), 236-247.
- [65] RASIN, O. G., AND HYDON, P. E. Conservation laws of discrete Korteweg-de Vries equation. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 1 (2005), Paper 026, 6 pp. (electronic).
- [66] RASIN, O. G., AND HYDON, P. E. Conservation laws for NQC-type difference equations. J. Phys. A 39, 45 (2006), 14055-14066.
- [67] RASIN, O. G., AND HYDON, P. E. Symmetries of integrable difference equations on the quad-graph. *preprint* (2006).
- [68] RASIN, O. G., AND HYDON, P. E. Conservation laws for integrable difference equations. preprint (2007).
- [69] SAHADEVAN, R., AND CAPEL, H. W. Complete integrability and singularity confinement of nonautonomous modified Korteweg-de Vries and sine Gordon mappings. *Phys. A 330*, 3-4 (2003), 373-390.
- [70] SAHADEVAN, R., AND KHOUSALYA, S. Master symmetries for Volterra equation, Belov-Chaltikian and Blaszak-Marciniak lattice equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 280, 2 (2003), 241-251.
- [71] SAHADEVAN, R., RASIN, O. G., AND HYDON, P. E. Integrability conditions for nonautonomous quad-graph equations. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 391, 1 (2007), 712-726.
- [72] TONGAS, A., AND NIJHOFF, F. A discrete Garnier type system from symmetry reduction on the lattice. J. Phys. A 39, 39 (2006), 12191-12202.

- [73] TONGAS, A., TSOUBELIS, D., AND PAPAGEORGIOU, V. Symmetries and group invariant reductions of integrable partial difference equations. Proceedings of the 10th International Conference in Modern Group Analysis, edited by N. H. Ibragimov, C. Sophocleous and P. A. Damianou (2004), 222-230.
- [74] Waterloo Maple Group. Maple Home Page. http://www.maplesoft.com/.
- [75] WENDLANDT, J. M., AND MARSDEN, J. E. Mechanical integrators derived from a discrete variational principle. Phys. D 106, 3-4 (1997), 223-246.
- [76] WYNN, P. Upon systems of recursions which obtain among the quotients of the Padé table. Numer. Math. 8 (1966), 264-269.